#### DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 440 754 PS 028 501

AUTHOR Hosley, Cheryl A.

TITLE Early Childhood Education Programs: A Review of Program

Models and Effectiveness.

INSTITUTION Wilder Research Center, St. Paul, MN.

PUB DATE 2000-03-00

NOTE 87p.

PUB TYPE Information Analyses (070) EDRS PRICE MF01/PC04 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS \*Day Care; Day Care Effects; \*Delivery Systems; Early

Experience; Educational Quality; \*Family Programs;
Literature Reviews; \*Models; Preschool Curriculum;
\*Preschool Education; Preschool Evaluation; \*Program
Effectiveness; Special Needs Students; State of the Art

Reviews; Student Centered Curriculum

IDENTIFIERS Day Care Quality

#### ABSTRACT

This literature review summarizes information related to the major models of providing education, child care, and family-oriented services to an early childhood population, the effectiveness of these models, and strategies for delivering early childhood services for children with special needs. The focus of the review is on information presented within the past 30 years on center-based programs serving toddlers and preschoolers and their families, with an emphasis on analyzing information collected in the 1990s. Information for the review was collected from computerized bibliographic databases, relevant journal contents, and Internet resources. The review begins with a general discussion of features of high quality early childhood programs and factors that influence parent satisfaction with these programs. Second, a review of child-focused and family-focused approaches to early childhood is presented, including an analysis of the short- and long-term effectiveness of these models. Third, issues related to providing care for children with special needs are presented. The review concludes with recommendations regarding: (1) addressing the needs of the target population; (2) service intensity, onset, and duration; (3) general features of program quality; (4) child-focused and/or family-focused services; (5) provision of mental health services; and (6) appropriate program goals. A list of model programs is appended. (Contains approximately 550 references.) (KB)



## **Early Childhood Education Programs**

A review of program models and effectiveness

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION

- CENTER (ERIC)

  This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.
- ☐ Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

MARCH 2000

Prepared by:

Cheryl A. Hosley, Ph.D. Research Scientist

Wilder Research Center 1295 Bandana Boulevard North, Suite 210 Saint Paul, Minnesota 55108 651-647-4600 www.wilder.org

> PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS **BEEN GRANTED BY**

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES







## **Contents**

Background	
Purpose of this review/description of search	1
Overview of paper	2
General features of high-quality programs	2
Class size and ratios	3
Curriculum	3
Staff training	4
Responsive caregiving	5
Staff stability	5
Other factors that may influence program effectiveness	6
Intensity of services	
Onset and duration of services	6
Parent involvement	7
Parent satisfaction with early childhood programs	9
Program models and outcomes: cautionary notes	9
Classification of models	9
Short-term versus long-term outcomes	10
Child-focused models	10
Key features of models	10
Outcomes for children	11
Outcomes for parents	15
Family-focused models	15
Family support programs	16
Two-generation programs	23
21st century school programs	25
Serving children with special needs	27
Inclusion in early childhood settings	27
Specific models for providing services	35



## **Contents (Continued)**

Co	nclusions and recommendations	40
	Addressing needs of the target population	41
	Service intensity, onset, and duration	41
	General features of program quality	42
	Child-focused and/or family-focused services	42
	Provision of mental health services	43
	Appropriate program goals	43
Apj	pendices	44
	Appendix I: List of model programs	45
	Appendix II: Bibliography	52
Li	st of figures	
1.	Dimension of four family support principles	19
2.	Linkage between pyramid of services and child care approach	20
3.	Themes reflected in concerns related to integrated preschool settings	31



## **Background**

#### Purpose of this review/description of search

This literature review summarizes information related to the major models of providing education, child care, and family-oriented services to an early childhood population, the effectiveness of these models, and strategies for delivering early childhood services for children with special needs. Due to the extremely high number of journal articles, books, and reports dealing with these issues, it was not possible to thoroughly review the literature in this area. Instead, an effort was made to identify existing reviews and representative studies.

Several guidelines were followed in an effort to target the scope of this review. While some of the materials read provided comparisons of center-based and home-based child care, only materials dealing with children in centers were systematically reviewed. Similarly, the age range of the children under study was restricted. While some of the materials that are included explored infant and school-aged child care, the primary focus of this review is on toddlers and preschoolers in early childhood programs. Finally, rather than review all of the work that has been conducted in this area, the time period of interest was narrowed. The work included in this document and cited in the references broadly cover the last 30 years. However, the focus was placed on analyzing information collected between 1990 and 1999.

To obtain the information for this review, a number of computerized bibliographic searches were conducted. Several different bibliographic databases were used, including Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), Educational Abstracts, PSYC-Info, and PSYC-First. In addition, the tables of contents of several journals were systematically reviewed to identify additional articles. These journals included Child Development, Developmental Psychology, Young Children, Early Childhood Development and Care, Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, Early Childhood Education Journal, Dimensions of Early Childhood, Early Childhood Research Quarterly, and Early Education and Development.

Internet resources were also used to obtain additional information. Web sites of organizations interested in child care and early childhood education were reviewed to obtain reports and other resources. These organizations/web sites included the National Network for Child Care, the National Association for the Education of Young Children, the National Child Care Information Center, the Center for the Child Care Workforce, the Child Care Action Campaign, the Child Care Institute of America, the Children's Defense Fund, the Child Welfare League of America, the National Child Care Association, and the Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC) Clearinghouse on Elementary and Early Childhood Education.



#### Overview of paper

This literature review begins with a general discussion of features of high quality early childhood programs and factors that influence parent satisfaction with these programs. Second, a review of child-focused and family-focused approaches to early childhood programs is presented, including an analysis of the short-term and long-term effectiveness of these models. Third, issues related to providing care for children with special needs are presented. Following a conclusion and recommendations section, two appendices are included. The first appendix contains a list of selected program models that have been studied. The second appendix consists of an extensive bibliography of related information sources. This appendix includes all works cited in this review, in addition to other relevant materials.

## General features of high-quality programs

The first section of this review summarizes information related to general features of high-quality early childhood programs. Child care quality can be defined as "experiences that enhance rather than impede children's social, cognitive, and emotional development" (Howes, 1997, p. 405). Five program features have generally been described as promoting quality: class size and student-teacher ratios, appropriate curriculum, adequate staff training, responsive caregiving, and staff stability. These five features are briefly summarized below.

A thorough discussion of these features is not included in this document as reviews of the literature in these areas are readily available. They are presented in order to provide a context for the material that follows regarding outcomes associated with various program models. Within service delivery models, variation in these features have been associated with differing program outcomes and effectiveness (e.g., Belsky, 1988; Burchinal, Roberts, Nabors & Bryant, 1996; Goelman & Pence, 1987; Hausfather, Toharia, LaRoche & Engelsmann, 1997; Howes & Hamilton, 1993; Lamb, 1996; McCartney, 1984; NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, 1997; Peisner-Feinberg & Burchinal, 1997; Phillips et al., 1987; Wasik et al., 1990). This relationship between quality of care and outcomes for children has been found to exist independently of other factors, including socioeconomic status, maternal education and family structure (Dunn, 1993; Phillips, McCartney & Scarr, 1987; Schliecker, White, & Jacobs, 1991; Whitebook, Howes & Phillips, 1989).

These five features are especially important to consider in light of research that suggests that, regardless of the type of child care setting (i.e., centers, relative care, family day care), many children receive low-quality care. One large-scale study (the National Child Care Staffing Study) reported that the quality was poor in over half of the centers studied (Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1990). In a more recent study of cost, quality and child



Wilder Research Center, March, 2000

outcomes in child care centers, it was reported that only 14 percent of centers could be regarded as providing good quality care. Most centers were rated as poor to mediocre, with almost half of all young children in centers that are less than minimal in quality (Helburn et al., 1995; Phillipsen, Burchinal, Howes, & Cryer, 1996).

These general indicators of high-quality programs may be particularly important for children from low-income families. Research has found that children from low-income families receive greater benefits from high quality care than children from more advantaged homes (McGurk et al., 1993; Ramey, Bryant & Suarez, 1989; Scarr & Eisenberg, 1993). Low-quality care is often correlated with family characteristics and demographic criteria (i.e., low-income families are more likely to be limited to less costly and poorer quality care). Unfortunately, fewer low-income than high-income children are enrolled in high-quality programs, resulting in a "two-tiered system of care for our youngest children" (Chorvinsky, 1982). In other words, those children who can benefit the most are also the least likely to receive high quality child care (Scarr & Eisenberg, 1993).

#### Class size and ratios

Numerous studies and reviews have concluded that high quality in child-focused programs means small classes and high staff-to-child ratios (Allhusen, 1992; Barnett, 1995; Bredekamp, 1990; Clarke-Stewart, 1987; Frede, 1995; Hayes, Palmer, & Zaslow, 1990; Helburn et al., 1995; Howes, 1982, 1997; Howes & Rubenstein, 1985; Kontos & Fiene, 1987; Phillips & Howes, 1987; Stith & Davis, 1984; Weikart, 1989; Whitebook, Howes & Phillips, 1989; Yoshikawa, 1995). When child-adult ratios and group sizes are smaller, caregivers tend to have more positive interactions with preschoolers (Howes et al., 1992; Phillips, 1987; Ruopp, Travers, Glantz & Coelen, 1979; Vandell & Powers, 1983). The actual number of children included in staff-to-child ratios is dependent on a number of factors, including the age of the child and the guidelines established by different licensing agencies, so it is difficult to provide any useful figures to use as a reference. However, the research has consistently found that programs that at least meet, but preferably our lower, than the required ratios show enhanced outcomes. In one study, it was found that the addition of even one child to a group made a meaningful difference in quality (Howes et al., 1992).

#### Curriculum

A second characteristic of effective early childhood programs is a child-centered, developmentally-appropriate curriculum (Bredekamp, 1990, 1993; Phillips & Howes, 1987; Weikart, 1989; Whitebook, Howes & Phillips, 1989). According to a review of effective programs conducted by Frede (1995), curricula should engage children as active learners and be coordinated with activities children are likely to encounter when they enter school.



Dodge (1995) presented characteristics of effective curriculum frameworks. She suggests that curricula should have a developmentally-appropriate philosophy that is guided by an understanding of both the normal growth sequences typical of children within a given age group and the individual variations that exist in temperament, interests, learning styles and cultural backgrounds. It is also important to have a statement of goals and objectives that addresses the developmental aspects of the *whole* child, including social, emotional, cognitive and physical development (Bredekamp, 1987; Bredekamp & Rosegrant, 1992; Copple, 1991; Dodge, 1995, Dodge & Colker, 1992; Dodge & Phinney, 1990).

#### Staff training

Among the most important features of a high-quality program is adequate training for all program staff. Staff should be trained in early childhood education or child development (Bredekamp, 1990; Clarke-Stewart, 1987; Howes, 1983, 1987, 1997; Howes & Olenick, 1986; Lamb, 1996; Phillips & Howes, 1987; Rosenthal, 1991; Ruopp, Travers, Glantz & Coelen, 1979; Vandell & Powers, 1983; Weikart, 1989; Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1989). This training may take the form of formal education as well as specialized training.

Nationally, only 47 percent of teachers in centers have college degrees (Willer et al., 1991). Many teachers (74% in one study) reported having "some college," though this might be as little as one course (Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1989). Another study reported that 14 percent have no formal training beyond a high school diploma (Willer et al., 1991). Several studies have reported that caregivers' level of formal education (independent of years of experience) was the strongest predictor of teacher-child interaction (Fischer & Krause-Eheart, 1991; Howes, Whitebook & Phillips, 1992). There is also evidence that the proportion of highly educated staff is declining (Helburn, 1995; Whitbook et al., 1990).

Specialized training includes other training relevant to practitioners' work with young children. Often, this training takes the form of brief workshops or inservice sessions conducted at their place of employment or in their community. A 1991 study reported that while most teachers do complete some specialized education, on average they receive only about ten hours of training (Kisker, Hofferth, Phillips, & Farquhar, 1991).

Research has indicated that when caregivers have more formal education and specialized training, they interact more positively with preschoolers (Arnett, 1989; Berk, 1985; Ruopp, Travers, Glantz & Coelen, 1979). They are also more likely to be responsive to the individual needs of children and knowledgeable about creating an environment that is conducive to optimal growth and development (Ruopp, Travers, Glantz & Coelen, 1979).



A number of studies have addressed institutional barriers that may inhibit training (Morgan et al., 1993). A 1991 report resulting from a national meeting convened by the Carnegie Corporation of New York and the Rockefeller Brothers Fund identified some of these barriers, including: the high cost of classes, the difficulty of attending training while juggling full-time jobs and families; lack of access to training for people of color and low-income individuals; training that does not respond to practitioners' needs; and training that does not earn college credits, making it difficult to apply to future college study (Copple, 1991; Morgan et al., 1993). Other barriers include a lack of training that addresses the skill and knowledge level of practitioners and a lack of incentive for training since it does not usually lead to increased compensation (Brown, Costley & Morgan, 1990; Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1989).

#### Responsive caregiving

Sensitive caregiving is an additional feature of high-quality programs. Specifically, caregiving should be responsive, involved, and affectionate (Anderson, Nagel, Roberts, & Smith, 1981; Bredekamp, 1990; Carnegie Corporation of New York, 1994; Clarke-Stewart, 1987; Holloway & Reichhart-Erickson, 1989; Howes, 1987; Howes et al., 1992; Lamb, 1996; Phillips & Howes, 1987; Weikart, 1989; Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1989). In addition to playing an important role in determining the outcomes for children, the quality of interactions with children is one source of job satisfaction among child day care workers (Kingsley & Cook-Hatala, 1988; McClelland, 1986).

#### Staff stability

Finally, staff stability is a critical issue in program quality (Davis & Thornburg, 1994; Hayes, Palmer & Zaslow, 1990; Howes, 1987; Howes, Rodning, Galluzzo, & Myers, 1988; Kontos & Fiene, 1987; Lamb, 1996; Phillips & Howes, 1987; Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1989). In low quality facilities, staff turnover often exceeds 40 percent (Kisker, Hofferth, Phillips, & Farquhar, 1991; Whitebook et al., 1990). The rates of turnover for staff in early childhood programs is dramatically higher than the annual rate of 9.6 percent reported by U.S. companies and the 5.6 percent rate for public school teachers (Whitebook, Howes, & Phillips, 1993).

Low stability of caregivers has been found to have negative effects on children (e.g., Hayes, Palmer, & Zaslow, 1990). Staff stability is especially important when infants and young children are being served due to the importance of allowing children to get to know and become familiar with the caregivers (Phillips, 1987; Zigler & Finn-Stevenson, 1995). Research has found that infants and toddlers display more appropriate social behaviors in stable care arrangements (Howes & Stewart, 1987; Suwalsky et al., 1986).

Staff turnover has been associated with the lack of job prestige and salary (Shiomi, 1990; Whitebook et al., 1991). Wages have been found to be related to job satisfaction among



center-based child day care workers (Mullis, Ellet, & Mullis, 1986; Phillips et al., 1991). In a survey of child care workers conducted by Whitebook and colleagues (1989), only 43 percent of the workers earned more than \$5.00 per hour, even though their educational levels were higher than those of the average American worker. Annual staff turnover among these workers was 41 percent and was directly related to low salaries. More recent data indicate that over 50 percent of Minnesota child care workers earn less than \$6.99 per hour (Alliance of Early Childhood Professionals, 1996). When adjusted for inflation, the average wage of teachers in centers has dropped by almost one-quarter since the 1970s (Kisker, Hofferth, Phillips, & Farquhar, 1991).

# Other factors that may influence program effectiveness

#### Intensity of services

One issue that has been raised in the early childhood education literature is the relative efficacy of full-day and half-day programs. It has been argued that providing a full-day experience to children at-risk may allow greater opportunities for learning and intervention. Research examining this issue has failed to identify any consistent patterns regarding differences between full-day and half-day programs.

A number of recent reviews all conclude that there is little evidence regarding the ideal intensity of early childhood programs (Barnett, 1995; Frede, 1995; Yoshikawa, 1995). Because different service intensity levels have seldom been explained within the context of a single program, it is difficult to determine its influence (Gomby et al., 1995). Examinations of separate full-day and half-day center-based programs have found long-term benefits for both. One explanation for the failure to find consistent differences is that many publicly funded part-day programs can offer richer child development experiences than can the private market's full-day child care programs. For many families, however, the parents' need to work means their children cannot access those enriched programs (U.S. General Accounting Office, 1995).

Several researchers have indicated that a minimum threshold of program intensity is probably necessary to yield benefits. It is not clear, however, where that threshold falls (Gomby et al., 1995).

#### Onset and duration of services

A key rationale for providing early childhood programs is the idea that intervening sooner is better than intervening later. The strong effects achieved by a few programs that enrolled children as infants, and neurological evidence that the early environment



influences infant brain development, has led several researchers to suggest that beginning services in infancy will likely generate larger effects than waiting until a year before children enter school (Barnett, 1995; Carnegie Corporation, 1994; Yoshikawa, 1995). These ideas lie behind the Head Start Bureau's new initiative, Early Head Start, which serves children from birth to age three (Gomby et al., 1995).

Others argue that, although the accumulating research suggests that early childhood may be a special time, it is not the only age period during which successful interventions can and should be launched (Brim & Kagan, 1980). For example, Head Start programs do show success in influencing cognitive and academic outcomes for children who are often not served until one year before they enter school.

It has also been suggested that continuing programs through children's transition to school may enhance effectiveness. For example, some researchers concluded that the cognitive gains children achieve in early childhood programs can be sustained and enhanced if continued support is offered during the children's first few years in school (Fuerst & Fuerst, 1993; Ramey & Campbell, 1991; Slavin, 1994; Zigler & Styfco, 1993). Barnett (1995), however, argues that the evidence for this conclusion is weak. Efforts such as the Head Start Transition Projects have been launched to ease children's transition from early childhood programs to the schools (Gomby et al., 1995).

A review of early childhood programs conducted by Frede (1995) concluded that effective programs varied in the number of years of treatment they offered, ranging from eight months to more than five years. The variations in intensity across programs were not related to any striking differences in program effect.

#### Parent involvement

As will be seen later in this review, early childhood programs vary to the extent that services are provided to parents, with some programs offering extensive learning opportunities for parents as well as direct services such as job training. Regardless of the model of early childhood care, parents are an important participant in the process.

Involving parents can be especially important when serving children with special needs. Peterson and Cooper (1989) present a number of premises related to parent involvement in early intervention, which may also apply to children in early childhood education programs. These premises, as adapted by Paget (1992), are as follows:

- Parents (or their substitute caregivers) are the most significant teachers, socializing agents, and caregivers for children during their years from birth to age 5.
- Parents are in a unique, strategic position to enhance or negate the potential benefits of an early intervention program.



- Parents can act as key intervention agents in their child's life and can be primary teachers of the special skills their child needs to acquire.
- Parent involvement and education offer a means for parents to build a positive perspective about their child and their position as parents.
- Parents of young children with handicapping or at-risk conditions often face additional caregiving demands and stresses that demand new coping skills and parenting skills and may tax their emotional and coping systems.
- The success of early intervention services and the duration of those benefits are directly related to the degree to which parents are part of the intervention process.
- Intervention works best when parents and professionals are collaborating and working together toward common goals for a child
- Involving parents by educating them and helping them build new skills for dealing with their child's special needs from the onset has obvious economic benefits.
- Involvement brings parents into contact with a variety of resources (caring people, agencies, materials, information, professionals) that they can draw upon to aid them in their parenting roles.
- Parent education and involvement are advantageous simply because a great many parents are eager during their child's early life to be good parents, to nurture their child, and they are often not willing to relinquish control over a child so young to others.
- Parent education and involvement foster parent and community support for early referral to early intervention programs.

Research has found that the most effective early childhood programs are those that involve children's families in meaningful ways (Dodge, 1995). When involving parents in early childhood services, it is important to avoid a "deficit model" for their involvement, in which a hierarchy is established between parent and professional roles, with professionals holding a superior position to parents (Dunst et al., 1988; Paget, 1992; Wiegerink & Comfort, 1987).



# Parent satisfaction with early childhood programs

Most parents report that they are satisfied with their children's day care or educational program (Bogat & Gensheimer, 1986; Britner & Phillips, 1995; Shinn et al., 1991). For example, 96 percent of parents in the 1990 National Child Care Survey reported that they were satisfied with the arrangements they had made for their children (Hofferth, Brayfield, Deich, & Holcomb, 1991). This general finding applies across types of care, qualities of care and regions of the United States (Mitchell, Cooperstein, & Larner, 1992).

Several studies have attempted to find relationships between satisfaction and specific aspects of the care environment. One study found that overall satisfaction was associated with the child's experience (e.g., provider's warmth, daily activities, and opportunities for learning), the facility's attributes (e.g., amount of space, security and safety), low teacher turnover, and the quality of their own interactions with the teachers. "Adult" concerns, such as cost, location, hours and rules did not affect satisfaction (Mitchell, Cooperstein, & Larner, 1992).

It is interesting to note that parent satisfaction is typically unrelated to the elements of quality discussed earlier. While they may play a role in determining the actual outcomes for children, features such as group size, staff-child ratio, and provider training have not been associated with parent satisfaction (Britner & Phillips, 1995; Shinn et al., 1991).

Parent satisfaction may also be related to their own involvement in the care program. Parents' satisfaction has been associated with their perception of the program as a source of social support for themselves (Britner & Phillips, 1995; Garbarino, 1982). Satisfaction has also been associated with their frequency of communication with the staff and their intensity of involvement (Kontos & Dunn, 1989, Zigler & Turner, 1982).

## Program models and outcomes: cautionary notes

#### Classification of models

One of the difficulties inherent in summarizing the research related to early childhood programs relates to the wide variety of service delivery options and to (often) inconsistent use of labels to describe these programs. Early childhood programs are often discussed collectively, however, they represent a "polyglot array of disjointed programs" (Kagan, 1991, p. 239) with a wide variety of goals, service delivery strategies, and ages of children served (Gomby et al., 1995).



Early childhood programs can broadly be divided into two categories: child focused programs and family-focused programs. While one of the goals of child-focused programs may be to free parents from child care responsibilities so that they can work or attend school, the primary goals of these programs are to promote child development and to improve children's readiness to succeed in school (Gomby et al., 1995). Child-focused programs include preschool, Head Start, pre-kindergarten and child care programs. Family-focused programs are intended to meet the needs of both the children and the parents. In this review, family support programs, two-generation programs, and 21<sup>st</sup> Century Schools are included as representatives of family-focused programs.

#### Short-term versus long-term outcomes

This review will explore both short-term and long-term outcomes. While long-term benefits of early childhood programs would illustrate sustained effects of services, there are several limitations to consider. First, of the tens of thousands of studies that have explored the impact of early childhood services, relatively few have focused on long-term outcomes. Thus, there is a small number of program evaluations that are available for review. In particular, it is difficult to find long-term studies that utilize rigorous experimental methods. Some studies have used random assignment to treatment and control groups, with long-term follow-up for both groups. Other studies, however, do not adhere to this standard of methodology, resulting in more tentative conclusions regarding their findings.

A second limitation of long-term studies addresses the possible confounding factor of time. Because it takes at least 15 years for a group of three-year-olds to complete high school, evidence of long-term effects that last into adolescence or early adulthood is only available from programs that operated more than 20 years ago. It has been argued that "changing times can make [these studies] anachronisms before the ink is dry on the latest round of results" (Gomby et al., 1995, p. 18). It is unclear whether programs that were successful 20 or 30 years ago would show the same results today.

### **Child-focused models**

#### Key features of models

Child-focused programs can be generally divided into two categories: <a href="educational">educational</a> programs and <a href="educational">child care</a> programs (Gomby et al., 1995). Educational programs include preschool, Head Start, and pre-kindergarten programs. They are typically part-day and part-year programs serving groups of three-to-five year olds in centers or schools. In addition to an educational component, many of these programs include health and developmental screenings, parent involvement and social service assistance. Child care programs typically offer care on a full-day basis to children from birth to school age. The



conceptual underpinning of these programs is that they lead to greater school success, greater economic gain, and heightened social responsibility (Berrueta-Clement et al., 1984; St. Pierre, Layzer & Barnes, 1995).

Tremendous variation exists within these programs in terms of the types of services that are provided. Similarly, these programs exist in a wide range of settings serving a diverse population of children. While consistent patterns that emerge regarding these factors will be highlighted, it is beyond the scope of this review to thoroughly discuss variations in outcomes based on the many differences that exist within these programs. Instead, general statements will be made regarding the effectiveness of child-focused programming as a collective group.

#### Outcomes for children

The effectiveness of child-focused early childhood programs is generally determined by assessing their impact on the children that are served. The most common outcomes explored concern the cognitive development and academic performance of the children. In addition to measuring cognitive effects, many programs measure social outcomes. In some studies, effects of the programs on health outcomes are also considered. These three categories of outcomes will be discussed separately.

#### **Cognitive and academic outcomes**

A number of cognitive and academic benefits have been associated with early childhood education and care, including increases in measured intelligence, cognitive skills, language development, and academic success. Several consistent patterns have emerged regarding these findings.

First, as stated earlier, dimensions of general program quality (i.e., group size and staff-child ratio, responsive caregiving) have been associated with variation in the short-term and long-term outcomes for children in early childhood programs (e.g., Bryant, Burchinal, Lau, & Sparling, 1994; Goelman & Pence, 1987; Peterson & Peterson, 1986; Phillips et al., 1987; Schliecker et al., 1991). Cognitive outcomes have been especially variable depending upon the quality of the program. The outcomes described below generally assume the presence of high-quality care. In a number of studies, low-quality programs have been associated with poorer performance in cognitive areas (e.g., Scarr & Eisenberg, 1993).

Similarly, these results are typically stronger for center-based programs and for programs that include an educational component (Clarke-Stewart, 1989). Programs that provide structured opportunities for exploration and learning show greater influences on cognitive outcomes. For cognitive interventions, the more intensive the program, the better the results (Ramey & Ramey, 1992).



Wilder Research Center, March, 2000

The impact of early childhood care and education programs is also dependent upon the characteristics of the children being served. Sustained results are generally more positive for children from low-income and disadvantaged families (Burchinal, Lee, & Ramey, 1989; Caughy, DiPietro, & Strobino, 1994; Clarke-Stewart, 1989; Field, 1991; Lally, Mangione, & Honig, 1988; Lazar, Darlington, Murray, Royce & Snipper, 1982; Lee, Brooks-Gunn, Schnur & Liaw, 1990; Phillips et al., 1987; Ramey, Bryant, Sparling & Wasik, 1985; Ramey & Campbell, 1992; Ramey & Ramey, 1992; Ramey, Yeates, & Short, 1984). These results have generally not been found for middle-class children (Baydar & Brooks-Gunn, 1991; Burchinal, Ramey, Reid & Jaccard, 1995; Clarke-Stewart, 1989; Desai, Chose-Lansdale, & Michael., 1985). The results are also more dramatic for children with poor learning opportunities at home (McCartney, Scarr, Phillips, & Grajek, 1985).

It is not clear whether age of entry influences these cognitive outcomes. Some research has not found differences based on the onset or duration of care (Bolger & Scarr, 1995). Other studies have found significant differences, however, concluding that earlier age into care was associated with better school performance (Anastasiow, 1984; Andersson, 1989; Hartmann, 1995).

Finally, while short-term effects on cognitive measures are common, fewer studies show long-term change. Some research has found that continued specialized programs and transition services may help to maintain the gains (e.g., Weikart, Bond, & McNeil, 1978). However, it has also been argued that many of the children who are in particular need of early intervention, such as children who attend Head Start programs, may also be the most likely to attend low-quality schools (Lee & Loeb, 1995). Simply providing supportive transition services without altering the schools will most likely not be successful in promoting long-change. Instead, interventions that help to change the school environment or to increase parent involvement may be more successful (Fuerst & Fuerst, 1993).

#### Intelligence/IQ

Research has generally indicated that participation in child-focused early childhood programs can result in IQ gains of about eight points immediately after completion of the program (Berrueta-Clement et al., 1984; Burchinal, Lee & Ramey, 1989; Clarke & Fein, 1983; Copple, Cline & Smith, 1987; Davis & Thornburg, 1994; Lally, Mangione, & Honig, 1988; Lazar, Darlington, Murray, Royce & Snipper, 1982; Lee, Brooks-Gunn, Schur & Liau, 1990; McKey et al., 1985; Miller & Bizzell, 1984; Thornburg, Pearl, Crompton, & Ipsa, 1990). The IQ advantage that the children who attended the early childhood program have over those in control groups usually persists until they enter school. However, the difference typically diminishes as they progress through the early grades, as the IQ scores of participating children slightly drop and the scores of the



control children slightly rise (Ceci, 1991; Cicirelli, 1969; Gomby et al., 1995; Lazar et al., 1982).

The reliance of many early childhood program evaluations on IQ scores and the consistent finding that IQ benefits diminish over time have been controversial. The "fade-out" phenomenon has led some to question the utility of these programs (Herrnstein & Murray, 1994; Locurto, 1991). Others argue that relying on IQ is short-sighted and that other cognitive outcomes may be more important.

#### Cognitive and language skills

Studies of early childhood programs consistently find that benefits do go beyond IQ. Short-term effects of child care on cognition include higher scores on cognitive competency measures and an enhanced pattern and level of cognitive development. (Burchinal et al., 1990; Copple, Cline & Smith; 1987; McKey et al., 1985). Research has found early childhood care to be related to significantly better language development and mathematical skills (Barnett, 1998; Bryant, Burchinal, Lau & Sparling, 1994; Goelman & Pence, 1987; McCartney, 1984; NICHD, 1997; Peisner-Feinberg & Burchinal, 1997; Peterson & Peterson, 1986; Phillips et al., 1987; Ramey & Farran, 1982; Schliecker, White, & Jacobs, 1991). Some research has suggested that cognitive and language skill benefits may also disappear over time, however, the results were maintained in programs with an intensive educational component and in programs that involved parents (Campbell & Taylor, 1996).

#### **School success**

According to a review conducted by Davis and Thornburg (1994), children who receive child care are better prepared for entry into school (Berreuta-Clement et al., 1987; Houlares & Oden, 1990; Weikart, 1990). Long-term effects for disadvantaged children include fewer grade retentions, reduced placement into special education classes, more regular attendance at school, higher scholastic achievement, and greater motivation and commitment to school (Berreuta-Clement et al., 1984; Boocock, 1995; Campbell & Ramey, 1993; Consortium for Longitudinal Studies, 1983; Copple, Cline & Smith, 1987; Davis & Thornburg, 1994; Doherty, 1991; Ershler, 1992; Gray, Ramsey & Klaus, 1983; Harrell, R., 1983; Lally, Mangione, & Honig, 1988; Lazar et al., 1983; McCartney, Scarr, Phillips, & Grajek, 1985; McKey et al., 1985; Palmer & Siegle, 1977; Schweinhart & Weikart, 1993; Wasik, Ramey, Bryant, & Sparling, 1990; Weikart, 1989).

Very few studies have followed children until age 18. Those that do, however, find that disadvantaged children who attend early childhood programs are more likely to graduate from high school (Davis & Thornburg, 1994; Gomby et al., 1995; Royce, Darlington, & Murray, 1983). They also show higher rates of employment and post-secondary education enrollment after graduation (Davis & Thornburg, 1994; Weikart et al., 1984).



#### Explanations for cognitive outcomes

Researchers have described two mechanisms to explain how children's experiences at ages three and four might lead to changes that alter the course of their school careers (Gomby et al., 1995). The first explanation emphasizes changes in children's cognitive abilities (Schweinhart, Barnes & Weikart, 1993). In this view, preschool improves children's ability to think and reason as they enter school, enabling them to learn more in the early grades. Even if their IQ advantage fades, their learning accumulates and their academic success keeps them "on track" toward high school graduation. The second explanation, which has stronger empirical support, begins with the same cognitive advantage, but emphasizes the child's increased motivation and the support provided by parents and teachers once their expectations for the child's success in school rise (Woodhead, 1988).

#### Social and emotional outcomes

Much of the research examining social outcomes has searched for negative effects, reflecting concerns that young children may not fare as well emotionally in large groups as they do in the more intimate surroundings of their homes (Gomby et al., 1995). Recent studies of the short-term effects of child care have shown that poor quality programs do have negative effects on children's play and friendship with their caregivers (Galinsky, Howes, Kontos, & Shinn, 1994; Helburn, 1995).

Quality care, on the other hand, has been associated with a wide variety of positive social outcomes. Children with involved and responsible caregivers are rated as more sociable and considerate, display more exploratory behaviors, engage in more complex play, are better adjusted, and have better peer relations (Anderson, Nagel, Roberts & Smith, 1981; Balleyguier, Meudec & Chasseigne, 1991; Clarke-Stewart, 1987; Holloway & Reichhart-Erickson, 1989; Howes & Olenick, 1986; Howes, et al., 1992; Kontos, 1991; Peisner-Feinberg. & Burchinal, 1997; Phillips, McCartney & Scarr, 1987; Ramey et al., 1983; Scarr & Eisenberg, 1993). A number of studies have indicated that these results are more positive for children who spend more time in care and for children who entered care earlier (Field et al. 1988; Scarr & Eisenberg, 1993).

One social outcome that has received special attention is aggression. Several studies have found that even children in high quality center-based programs behave more aggressively than other children when they begin school, but these differences most often disappear or are reversed later in life (Barnett, 1995).

In fact, a number of longitudinal studies have reported that participation in early childhood programs is associated with reduced levels of juvenile and adult crime (Weikart et al., 1984; Yoshikawa, 1995). A recent review of the literature in this area indicates that these effects are the strongest for model programs which combine center-



based child-development services with home visits or other parent-oriented components (Yoshikawa, 1995).

#### **Health outcomes**

Early childhood programs can positively affect children's physical health by requiring that children be properly immunized, by linking them to health services, by conducting vision, hearing and developmental screenings and by providing them with nutritious meals (Zigler, Piotrowski & Collins, 1994). These possible positive health benefits of early childhood programs are reflected in a campaign recently launched by the federal Child Care Bureau and the Maternal and Child Health Bureau to strengthen linkages between health care providers and child care centers (Gomby et al., 1995). Some of the health benefits that have been reported include better nutrition, reduced accidents, better dental care, and higher immunization rates (Campbell & Taylor, 1996; McKey et al., 1985; Olds, 1988).

#### **Outcomes for parents**

Although most studies of child-focused programs assess only the effects on children, some programs measure both child and parent outcomes (Benasich, Brooks-Gunn, & Clewell, 1992). According to Yoshikawa (1995), effects of child-centered programs on parents are mixed. Some programs influenced parents' expectations for their children or helped mothers to interact with their children in a warmer or most positive fashion or to rearrange their home to provide learning opportunities for their children. Other programs did not have these benefits, however.

## **Family-focused models**

As described earlier in this report, parent involvement in early childhood has been associated with improved outcomes for children. A wide range of programs have been implemented that focus exclusively on parents. These parent-focused programs seek to affect children indirectly, by helping parents learn to care for their children in ways that will promote the children's development (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995). For example, many of these programs provide parenting education and job training. These models will not be addressed in detail in this review, as they do not include an early childhood component.

Of greater interest in this review are family-focused programs, which are designed to strengthen outcomes for children by providing services to the entire family unit. There has been widespread social and political support for this approach. For example Public Law 99-457 advocates the "implementation of family-focused intervention services that address children's developmental needs by, in part, maximizing the effectiveness of their



families" (Mahoney, O'Sullivan, & Dennebaum, 1990, p. 2). Turnbull and Summers (1987) have described the movement towards this family-oriented approach as a "revolution."

Providing services to the entire family is considered to be especially important when serving children who are at-risk or who have special needs. For example, parents who are experiencing poverty may be faced with a number of other pressures and needs. Children with special physical, behavioral, or emotional needs may also disrupt family functioning, decrease parental effectiveness, and increase parental stress (Beckman-Bell, 1981; Crnic, Friedrich, & Greenberg, 1982; Dyson & Fewell, 1986; Mahoney, O'Sullivan & Dennebaum, 1990; Paget, 1992).

In this review, three models for providing family-focused services will be presented. These models include family support programs, two-generation programs, and 21<sup>st</sup> Century Schools programs.

#### Family support programs

#### **Description of model**

Federal legislation defines family support services as "primarily community-based, preventive activities designed to alleviate stress and promote parental competencies and behaviors that increase the ability of families to successfully nurture their children; enable families to use other resources and opportunities available in the community; and create supportive networks to enhance child-rearing abilities of parents and help compensate for the increased social isolation and vulnerability of families (Children's Bureau, 1994). These services are generally preventative, voluntary, and have no eligibility requirements (Roditti, 1995).

Family support programs typically serve children under the age of three (though older children may also be included) through weekly or monthly home visits or through classes or drop-in centers for parents. These programs strive to involve parents in their children's development and to strengthen their parenting skills, with the hope that changes in the parents will help to create, sustain, and amplify positive results for the children (Gomby et al., 1995).

A variety of philosophical models may underlie family support programs. Paget (1992) summarizes three approaches to family support programs. The first approach designs interventions based upon the family's needs and strengths. This approach emphasizes comprehensive child and family assessments that are used to identify the family's needs and to create individualized intervention goals designed to enhance family strength and empowerment (Bailey, et al., 1986; Deal, Dunst, & Trivette, 1989; Dunst, Trivette, & Deal, 1988). The second model emphasizes designing interventions based upon the



family's <u>values</u> regarding the level and scope of intervention, costs and efficiency and acceptability (Hobbs et al., 1984).

The third model focuses on the provision of <u>services</u> designed to enhance family functioning. Mahoney and colleagues (1990) have described a model of family-focused intervention that includes the following categories of services: (1) assistance and information that helps engage parents in the early intervention system; (2) information about the child's needs and health; (3) information and assistance for working with the child; (4) personal and family assistance, including counseling and social activities; and (5) resource assistance to help families obtain medical, financial, respite and other community resources to help them care for their child.

#### Integrating family support into early childhood programs

Family support programs may or may not include a child care or early childhood component. However, a number of authors have argued that early childhood programs allow unique opportunities to provide support to families (Raab & Dunst, 1997; Roditti, 1995). One source of support is the actual provision of early childhood care. Powell (1987) suggested that ensuring high quality care for children is one of the most important ways that early childhood programs can be supportive to families. A positive relationship between the parent and the caregiver is another source of support (Galinsky, 1990).

In addition, it has been proposed that these programs may have strong opportunities to link parents with other sources of support while children are still young (Roditti, 1995). For example, Bernice Weissbourd (1992) has proposed a vision of family-centered child care programs that "utilize the high-quality program they provide for children to act as a hub around which programs for parents and families may revolve and through which relationships among parents and between parents and staff members are established and maintained" (p. 390). Similarly, a report of a meeting on family support convened by the Carnegie Corporation of New York concluded that child care programs should be strong contributors to family support programs (Shore, 1994).

One reason why early childhood programs may be ideal for providing family support is that many of their underlying principles and premises may be consistent. For example, the Children's Bureau (1994) has outlined guiding principles for family support programs. According to Roditti (1995), these principles are based on a strengths perspective (rather than a deficit or pathological model), are family focused, and fit with the philosophy of quality child day care and development programs. These principles include the following six points:

 The welfare and safety of children and all family members must be maintained while strengthening and preserving the family whenever possible. Supporting families is the best way of promoting children's healthy development.



- Services focus on the family as a whole, looking towards identifying, enhancing and respecting family strengths as opposed to focusing on family deficits or dysfunctions. Service providers work with families as partners in identifying and meeting individual and family needs.
- Services are easily accessible (often delivered in the home or in community-based settings, using schedules convenient for parents) and are delivered in a manner that respects cultural and community differences.
- Services are flexible and responsive to real family needs. Linkages
  to a wide variety of supports and services outside the child welfare
  system (e.g., housing, substance abuse treatment, mental health, job
  training, child care) are generally crucial to meeting families' and
  childrens' needs.
- Services are community-based and involve community organizations and residents (including parents) in their design and delivery.
- Services are intensive enough to meet family needs and keep children safe. The level of intensity necessary to achieve these goals may vary greatly between preventive (family support) and crisis services.

A second model of family support principles has been presented by the Family Resource Coalition (Goetz, 1992; Family Resource Coalition, 1996). These principles include partnerships, empowerment, cultural competence, and building parenting strengths. Raab and Dunst (1997) conducted a content analysis of these multidimensional principles to clarify the features that could be used in integrating quality family practices in early childhood programs. Figure 1 summarizes the results of their content analysis.



DIMENSION OF FOUR FAMILY SUPPORT PRINCIPLES  Principle					
Partnership	Relationships are based on equality				
relationship	Relationships are based on respect				
	Program establishes and maintains collaborative relationships with parents				
	Partnerships are the basis for promoting growth and change				
Empowerment	Relationships are based on equality				
	Relationships are based on respect				
	<ul> <li>Program establishes and maintains collaborative relationships with parents</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Partnerships are the basis for promoting growth and change</li> </ul>				
Cultural Competence	Program is community-based				
	<ul> <li>Program is socially and culturally relevant to the families it serves</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Program is a bridge to services and resources in the community</li> </ul>				
Building Parental	Program provides opportunities for parenting education				
Strengths	<ul> <li>Programs provides parents with information about child development</li> </ul>				
,	<ul> <li>Program provides resources to build parents' competencies and skills.</li> </ul>				

SOURCE: Raab, M.M. & Dunst, C.J. (1997). Early childhood program assessment scales and family support practices. Advances in Early Education and Day Care, Volume 9. (pp. 105-131). NY: JAI.

One specific model for providing family support services as the "Pyramid of Services" model proposed by the Children's Defense Fund (1992). This model describes five levels of family needs, with variation in services at each level to meet these needs. The premise of the pyramid model is that families who receive appropriate services at any level of the pyramid often have a lessened need for services at the next level. To be most effective, prevention services must intervene at the earliest possible point and must be coordinated so that families' needs can be dealt with comprehensively (Children's Defense Fund, 1992).

Figure 2 summarizes the five levels of the pyramid, as presented by the Children's Defense Fund, and Roditti's (1995) explanation of how this relates to child care models. Only the first four levels are linked to early childhood programs in this model, as the fifth level consists of families with an extremely high level of need whose children need to be served outside of the home in specialized settings.



#### 2. LINKAGE BETWEEN PYRAMID OF SERVICES AND CHILD CARE APPROACH

#### **Pyramid of Services**

#### **Child Care Approach**

<u>Level One: All Families</u>. All families need adequate income, food, clothing, housing, child care, education and recreational services.

Child care is increasingly essential for families where both parents work outside the home. With the growing number of single-parent families and reduced availability of extended family and community supports, parents are increasingly relying on child day care personnel as experts who can understand them and educate them during the normal life transitions and crises. Many quality programs have been able to build in social work services, mental health consultation programs, or referrals to services to help families through difficult times.

Level Two: Families Needing Extra Support. Family resource and support programs are designed to be universally available to all families and to provide "emotional, informational, and instrumental assistance to young and older families, particularly to families isolated by poverty, joblessness, poor health or other factors" (Kagan & Weissbourd, 1994). The programs offer families easy access to a range of useful services and are helpful for the family that has many basic strengths but need extra support because of life stress. The programs are responsive to parents' needs and make available a range of services, including hot lines, warm lines, drop-in groups, respite care and counseling, and parenting classes.

Child day care plays a significant role in social support networks for families (Long, 1983; Powell, 1987). Since child day care programs exist in virtually every neighborhood in America, they could be enhanced to serve as family support centers. Some quality day care programs already provide services to families and are considered by many as the least stigmatizing form of support for those who need extra help. Rather than develop isolated family support services and family resource centers, efforts should be intensified to layer these services into already existing programs. With adequate funding, quality day care programs can act as a base for family support programs.

Level Three: Families Needing
Specialized Assistance. Some families
need special programs such as
comprehensive substance abuse
treatment, respite child care, family-based
services, and special health and
education services.

Child day care has important roles to play at this level as well. "For the child who has been deprived of experiences that stimulate intellectual, social, and emotional development, the child day care program has an even greater opportunity to supply the developmental learning and socialization experiences a child in our society requires" (Child Welfare League of America, 1992). Well-trained social workers and child development experts make a powerful intervention and support team. They can build on the trust developed in the child day care center to help a family through a crisis. They can evaluate the need and enable parents to use other services, including substance abuse treatment programs, mental health services, and special-needs services, when appropriate (Seitz et al., 1985). Some suggested services are: child day care coordinated with substance abuse treatment. child day care for teen parents, respite care and crisis nurseries, and therapeutic nurseries and special health and education services.



## 2. LINKAGE BETWEEN PYRAMID OF SERVICES AND CHILD CARE APPROACH (CONTINUED)

#### **Pyramid of Services**

#### **Child Care Approach**

Level 4: Families in crisis. This level includes families who are at-risk for breaking down and are strong candidates for child welfare system intervention. Timely intervention, intensive services, and an emphasis on family strengths and empowerment may prevent out-of-home placement.

Services at this level include intensive family preservation services, child protective services, and child day care and mental health consultation. Ongoing training and support from specialists in social work, child development, and child and family mental health can aid child day care program staff in their efforts to service troubled families.

Level 5: Families whose children cannot be protected or treated at home. Services at this level include residential treatment centers and therapeutic group homes, foster family homes, relative care or kinship care.

SOURCE: Roditti, M.G. (1995). Child day care: A key building block of family support and family preservation programs. *Child Welfare*, 1043-1068.

#### **Effectiveness of family support programs**

A number of demonstration projects have been conducted to demonstrate the effectiveness of family-supportive early childhood interventions (e.g., Syracuse Family Development Program, Yale Child Welfare Project, Project CARE, and the Brookline Early Education Project) (Larner, 1995). Family support programs are more successful in modifying parental behaviors than are child-focused programs. A review of the literature completed by Gomby and colleagues (1995) concludes that parents who participate in these programs may provide more stimulating home environments for their children and spend more time talking and reading with them. Another review (Kutash & Rivera, 1995) reported that parents who received family support services experienced the following benefits:

- Significant reduction in stress and social isolation (Allen et al., 1992; Friesen & Wahlers, 1993; Murray, 1993; Telleen, Herzog, & Kilbane, 1989).
- Increased self-esteem (Allen et al., 1992)
- More positive view of their child's behavior (Allen et al., 1992; Murray, 1992)
- Increase in parental competence (Allen et al., 1992; McBride, 1991)
- Increase in parent-child communication skills (Allen et al., 1992)
- Increased parent-child involvement (McBride, 1991)



- Improved coping abilities (Allen et al., 1992)
- Increased knowledge of child development (Allen et al., 1992)
- Increased parenting and advocacy skills (Allen et al., 1992)
- Decreased occurrence of child abuse and neglect (Allen et al., 1992)
- Reduction in family need in areas addressed by the program (Agosta, 1992; Allen et al., 1992)
- Increased ability to keep children in the home (Friesen & Wahlers, 1993)

A number of positive results have also been obtained regarding the children of families who participate in family support programs. Some research has found that services have a positive impact on developmental tests for infants and young children (Allen et al., 1992; Kutash & Rivera, 1995). One study reported improvements in children's level of achievement, health, and mental development.

The results of these interventions also illustrate that outcomes for children are strongly dependent upon having a strong early childhood component. For example, a review completed by Yoshikawa (1995) concludes that pure family support program without any dedicated child development services appear to have inconsistent and modest effects on children's development. Stronger effects are found when family support activities are combined with an intensive early childhood program.

In sum, the studies of family support programs show short-term impacts on parents but only weak impacts on children's development if an early childhood component is not included. In interpreting these results, it is important to keep in mind three elements of family support programs that may influence their effectiveness. First, the intensity of the services offered by the programs is critical. Many family support programs are not particularly intensive. Some studies indicate that participants in early childhood programs who receive lower intensity services (e.g., one home visit per week) do not benefit as much as those who receive higher intensity services (e.g., full-day early childhood programs) (Gomby et al., 1995; Ramey, Ramey, Gaines, & Blair, 1995). Second, family support programs often tailor their services to meet individual family needs. As a result, program impacts when considered across the whole group of participants tend to be weak and spread across a range of outcomes (Gomby et al., 1995). Finally, one of the premises of family support is that benefits for the children follow from changes in parent behavior and attitudes. Parents are encouraged by program staff to interact differently with their children, but changing any habit is difficult and changing patterns of behavior forged over many years is even harder (Halpern, 1992). As a result, even in the best programs, positive benefits may take some time to emerge (Gomby et al., 1995).



#### Two-generation programs

#### **Description of model**

One of the more recent approaches to providing family-oriented services is the two-generation program model. Two-generation programs were designed to recognize the multigenerational, multidimensional aspects of family poverty and to attack problems associated with poverty from multiple directions (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995). While similar to family-support programs in that the focus is on improving conditions for the family, two-generation programs provide additional adult-oriented services such as job training or adult education (Gomby et al., 1995).

Early childhood care is often included in two-generation programs, though different programs can show a wide range of ages served and intensity of services. Some programs may provide a few hours of free care while parents engage in other activities, while others may include a comprehensive half-time or full-time educational program (Gomby et al., 1995; St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

The services provided to adults by two-generation programs show tremendous variation. Services to parents may be provided through home visits or center-based services. Most programs include a set of services designed to enhance parenting skills, increase involvement, improve self-esteem and coping skills, alleviate depression, or develop parents as teachers. Finally, adult education and employment skill development are often included (Gomby et al., 1995; St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

Two-generation programs typically use a case management approach to coordinate and provide services. Programs typically rely on educational and social services that are already available in the community, rather than creating duplicate service structures. They may support existing services by providing transportation or child care while adults participate in these services (St. Pierre & Layzer, 1998; St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

St. Pierre, Layzer and Barnes (1995) have outlined a model of the intended effects of two-generation programs. In their words, "under the umbrella of a single integrated program, the two-generation approach seeks to solve the problems of parents and children in two contiguous generations by offering service such as early childhood education and parenting education to help young children get the possible start in life and, at the same time, by offering services such as job training, literacy training, and vocational education to help their parents become economically self-sufficient" (p. 79).



These same authors describe five hypotheses underlying two-generation programs:

- Early childhood education will have a direct effect on children's cognitive skills prior to school entry and may have long-term effects on child outcomes.
- Parenting education will have a short-term direct effect on parenting skills, which, prior to school entry, will have an indirect effect on children's cognitive skills.
- Adult education, literacy, and job skills programs will have a direct effect on parents. However, this is not expected to translate into short-term child-level effects.
- The performance of children in elementary and middle school will be enhanced by their experience in an early childhood program, as well as by their parents' enhanced parenting skills.
- In the long run (high school and beyond), all three program components will enhance the life changes of both parents and their children. Both generations will demonstrate reduced delinquency levels, reduced pregnancy rates, the ability to be informed and responsible citizens, and improved economic self-sufficiency.

#### Effectiveness of two-generation programs

Theoretically, the three-pronged approach used by two-generation programs (promoting child development, enhancing parenting skills, and providing adult economic self-sufficiency services) should be the most powerful of the intervention models reviewed (Gomby et al., 1995). As several recent reviews discuss, two-generation programs are very promising from a theoretical standpoint (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995; Yoshikawa, 1995).

Because they are so new, there is not a great deal of data available regarding their effectiveness. Some of the most sophisticated examinations of these programs are only now beginning to produce results (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995). In general, the research results thus far show positive, but small, effects in a variety of areas.

Most of the research has assessed changes in the parents. Some programs have reported positive changes in parenting skills and behaviors. These effects have included improvements in the home learning environment, child rearing behaviors and attitudes, maternal role as a teacher, sense of parental efficacy, use of community resources, provision of emotional support for children, and mother-child interaction (St. Pierre & Layzer, 1998; St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

Two-generation programs have also been associated with a wide range of effects on adult life course outcomes. Among the results have been increased use of federal benefits such



as AFDC and food stamps (due to increased eligibility because of participation in educational programs or increased awareness of benefit availability) and increased use of educational and social services (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995). One of the strongest impacts has been GED attainment, however, this has not been related to changes in adult literacy, income or employment (St. Pierre & Layzer, 1998). Similarly, no programs have reported measurable differences on psychological variables such as maternal depression, self-esteem or use of social supports (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

Some two-generation programs do not assess outcomes for children, so it is not clear whether they influence child development. Those two-generation programs that have measured child outcomes typically show small or no effects on child development. While the most ambitious two-generation programs yielded small but positive effects on children's cognitive development at two years of age, most of the programs did not affect the children's status in measurable ways (St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995).

Taken as a whole, the two-generation programs have shown modest effects. These modest effects probably reflect several factors. Like the family support programs, the breadth of the program goals and the tailoring of services to meet the needs of individual families may also lead to a diffuseness that undermines effectiveness and that makes detecting benefits across a group difficult (Gomby et al., 1995). In addition, most do not design or manage their own services for children and families, but instead refer families to community agencies. They therefore have little control over the quality of job training, adult education, or child care assistance that is provided (Gomby et al., 1995).

#### 21st century school programs

#### **Description of model**

A third family-focused model for providing services is the School of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century proposed by Edward Zigler and his colleagues (e.g., Zigler & Finn-Stevenson, 1995; Zigler, Finn-Stevenson, & Marsland, 1995; Zigler & Lang, 1991). This model is designed to promote children's optimal development by providing high-quality child day care and support services to children from birth through age 12. Its approach is unique in that it makes the public school system the hub of all service provision (Zigler & Finn-Stevenson, 1995; Zigler, Finn-Stevenson, & Marsland, 1995; Zigler & Lang, 1991). While a school-based program may not be appropriate for the current redesign efforts, the model is included in this review as it may provide useful suggestions for program services or components.

This model includes two child care components: before- and after-school care and vacation care for school-age children and full-day child care for children between the ages of three and five. These child care components operate year round, including holidays, snow days, school vacations, and teacher inservice days. In this model, the



integration of child care and education is critical. In the words of Zigler and his colleagues, "by eliminating the distinction between child day care and education, the model actualizes the notion that learning begins at birth and continues in all settings, not just within the classroom" (Zigler, Finn-Stevenson & Marsland, 1995, p. 1307).

In addition, the model includes three outreach components. The first component is the creation of a network of licensed or registered family day care providers in the district, with the school's child care system as the hub. At-home providers receive training and general support from program staff. Second, the model includes a resource and referral system that can provide families with information about child care, health care, mental health services and other community-based supports. The third component is a home-based family support and education program. Outreach workers conduct home visits, provide information about child development, and conduct screenings for developmental problems (Zigler & Lang, 1991).

The School of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century is founded based on six guiding principles (Zigler, Finn-Stevenson, & Marsland, 1995). These principles are as follows:

- Families should have universal access to high-quality child day care.
   The model is based on parental fee for services, with a sliding scale and subsidies built in to ensure access by middle- and low-income families.
- To enable children's optimal development, child day care must focus on all aspects of development: social, cognitive, physical and emotional. Therefore, the components of the School of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century are geared towards the different needs of children at various stages of development, with child day care services playing a particular emphasis on the socioemotional development.
- Professional development is important for child day care providers.
   Stability of care, and the educational and training background of the care provider are important indicators of quality.
- Schools of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century promote and encourage parental participation.
- The School of the 21<sup>st</sup> century is noncompulsory. Programs and services are available on a voluntary basis and families make their own decisions about which, if any, they use.
- An effective system of good-quality child day care and family support must be integrated with the political and economic structure of society. Schools of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century establish the framework for such integration by tying the provision of child day care and family support services to a recognized and easily accessible institution—the public schools.



While all schools of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century share these philosophical underpinnings, actual implementation varies across different sites. The needs and the resources of each community determine the actual services that are provided.

#### Effectiveness of 21" century schools

Evaluation data on the effectiveness of this model have only recently become available. It should be noted that the Yale University Bush Center in Child Development and Social Policy conducted these evaluations (the institution that the model's creators are affiliated with). Preliminary data indicate that the model has had an influence on children's academic achievement. For example, children receiving 21<sup>st</sup> Century services received significantly higher achievement scores than children in the same schools who did not receive services and children in demographically matched control schools (Finn-Stevenson & Chung, 1995; Zigler & Finn-Stevenson, 1995).

In addition, local schools have collected their own evaluation data. Results from these evaluations indicate that a wide variety of impacts have been reported, including reduced school vandalism, increased support for the schools, and decreased parental stress (Finn-Stevenson, Desimone, & Chung, 1998; Zigler, Finn-Stevenson, & Marsland, 1995).

## Serving children with special needs

#### Inclusion in early childhood settings

Integration of children with and children without disabilities in educational settings has received a great deal of attention over the past several decades. Terms such as "mainstreaming," "Least Restrictive Environment (LRE)," and "inclusion" are prevalent. The majority of the work in this area has addressed working with school-aged children with physical disabilities. Fewer studies have been conducted examining these issues related to youth with emotional or behavioral problems or to service provision at the preschool level.

Until very recently, preschool children with severe emotional and behavioral problems received very little recognition in the professional literature, in teacher training or in service provision (Schmitz & Hilton, 1996). Inclusion has evolved, however, into a recommended practice in both early childhood special education (Division for Early Childhood, 1993) and early childhood education (Wolery & Wilbers, 1994). For very young children with developmental delays, the least restrictive and most natural settings for providing early intervention services will be their homes and early childhood settings (Bruder, 1993).



Therefore a service delivery approach becoming more prevalent is the provision of early intervention services within community preschools and child care centers (Brown, Horn, Heiser, & Odom,1996; Bruder-Sachs & Deiner, 1990; Hanline, 1990; Templeman, Fredericks & Udell, 1989). Research has indicated that more and more professionals are committed to the inclusion of infants and preschoolers with disabilities in early childhood programs (Rab & Woods, 1995). Similarly, the number of preschools, day care centers, and other early childhood education programs with inclusive programming has been increasing (Wolery, et al., 1993).

Before discussing issues related to inclusion, it is important to clarify the terminology that is used. The term "mainstreaming" usually refers to educational settings where children with disabilities are placed in settings where the primary focus is education of children without disabilities. "Integration" is a broader term that can be used to refer to any type of interaction between populations of children with disabilities and children without disabilities (McLean & Hanline, 1990; Odom & Speltz, 1983). While the articles included in this literature review address both mainstreaming and integration, the greater emphasis has been placed on the information related to successful integration efforts.

#### **Benefits of integration**

Much of what has been written regarding the outcomes of integration for children has addressed school-age children. However, there is some literature available exploring these issues at the preschool level. According to Peck and colleagues (1989), the research that has accumulated on the topic of mainstreaming and other LRE issues during early childhood has been focused almost exclusively on two areas. First, a large number of studies have investigated interactions between children with disabilities and children without disabilities. These studies have attempted either to describe social processes that have implications for outcomes (Guralnick, 1981; Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1984; Peterson & Haralick, 1977) or to validate interventions aimed at improving outcomes (Odom, Hoyson, Jamieson & Strain, 1985; Peck, Apolloni, Cooke & Raver, 1978; Strain, 1977). The second area of research has focused on comparing outcomes of segregated versus integrated preschool programs (e.g., Cooke, Ruskus, Apolloni, & Peck, 1981; Ipsa & Matz, 1978; Jenkins, Speltz & Odom, 1985).

#### Benefits to children with disabilities

Many authors indicate that there are a number of advantages to mainstreaming and integration for children with disabilities (e.g., Messersmith & Piantek, 1988). One of the most obvious advantages is the dramatic increase in number of opportunities they have interact socially with peers without disabilities (Alper & Ryndak, 1992). The integrated setting enhances the development of children with disabilities through the availability of advanced models during play (Devoney, Guralnick, & Rubin, 1974), the opportunity to observe and participate in appropriate patterns of communicative interaction (Guralnick,



1981) and social reinforcement of the handicapped child's appropriate behavior by nonhandicapped peers (Wynne, Brown, Dakof, & Ulfelder, 1975). Odom and McEvoy (1990) argue that the best rationale for integration is the potential benefits to children with disabilities that may accrue from observing and interacting with children who are engaged in age-appropriate behaviors. The communication and social domains are likely to be affected most by the presence of and access to normally developing peers. There is some evidence that the presence of normally developing children facilitates the use of social interaction skills learned in intensive intervention settings although replications of these effects have produced inconsistent results (Hecimovic, Fox, Shores & Strain, 1985; (Strain, 1983, 1984).

Research has identified a number of cognitive, behavioral, and psychological outcomes for individuals with disabilities in integrated settings. For example, special education students have been shown to develop more positive self-concepts as they view themselves working on grade level and completing activities that are valued by their peer group. Integration has also been linked to increased language and skill acquisition (Hanline & Murray 1994; Stafford & Green, 1996).

Several authors have compared preschool children in integrated and segregated settings. Jenkins, Speltz, and Odom (1985) compared children in integrated and nonintegrated classrooms and found that while children in both settings improved in a broad array of areas over the course of the year, children in the integrated class scored higher in social play. Buysse and Bailey (1993) reviewed 22 studies comparing young children with disabilities in integrated and segregated settings and found evidence that integration is beneficial in terms of social and behavioral outcomes. However, methodological problems such as a lack of randomization and threats to internal validity limited their ability to interpret the effects of integrated settings.

A third benefit is the higher expectations that both special and regular education personnel have for students with disabilities in the mainstream. The presence of children without disabilities in the special education preschool is believed to increase the level of environmental demand for classroom performance and consequently to maximize the potential of children with developmental problems (Bricker, 1978). Proponents of mainstreaming argue that teachers make more favorable judgments of children with disabilities when observed in settings composed primarily of children without disabilities (McEvoy, Nordquist, & Cunningham, 1984).

#### Benefits to children without disabilities

Teachers also believe that integrated educational settings have benefits for children without disabilities. Inclusive programs provide an opportunity to become comfortable with and accepting of people's differences. For instance, children without disabilities can learn to respond to others' needs, develop empathy, and learn to help others (Buysse,



Wesley, Keyes & Bailey, 1996; Demchak & Drinkwater, 1992; Marchant, 1995; Peck, Carlson & Helmstetter, 1992). Another advantage is the opportunity to develop valuable social, emotional, and personal perspectives that are precluded in segregated schools. Students have the chance to develop many new and positive attitudes about human exceptionality as a result of attending school and interaction with students with disabilities (Little, 1988).

#### **Barriers to integration**

Children with disabilities placed in integrated settings seem to fare at least as well as children with disabilities placed in segregated classrooms (Jenkins, Speltz, & Odom, 1985). However, integration alone does not appear sufficient to produce increased developmental progress (i.e., better than in segregated programs) (Cavallaro, Haney, & Cabello, 1993; Honig, 1997).

Research has addressed a number of suggested strategies for fostering effective inclusion models and the multiple barriers that may exist in integrated settings. Figure 3 summarizes the results of one study designed to address barriers specific to integrated programs at the preschool level. Peck and colleagues (1989) explored concerns of teachers, parents, and administrators and found three general themes: preparation, resources, and conflict. Included within these three themes are a number of specific issues that are often identified as barriers to mainstreaming and integration. In particular, issues related to philosophical inconsistencies, teacher knowledge, teacher-attitudes, staff-family interaction, and structural/curricular requirements have been discussed. Each of these issues will be discussed below.



34.

## 3. THEMES REFLECTED IN CONCERNS RELATED TO INTEGRATED PRESCHOOL SETTINGS

	P <u>reparation</u>	Resources	Conflict
Parent Concerns	Teacher attitude training	Staff/child ratios  Adequate space for larger numbers of children  Delivery of therapeutic services	Special education teachers seem unaware of impact of special needs children
(Note: This sample includes parents of children with disabilities and children without disabilities)	Awareness of non- handicapped children about disabilities		Difficulties with parents of non-handicapped children
	Skills in individualizing instruction		Easy for regular teachers not to be responsive to needs of children with disabilities
Teacher Concerns	Sufficient planning of integrated program	Release time for daily planning and coordination	Difficulties in working with regular (or special) teachers
	Training needs related to responding to special needs Clarification of responsibilities for family members	Sufficient space for integrated groups of children	Competition between teachers and therapy staff for child's time
·		Consultant availability Child-staff ratios	Inconsistencies in educational philosophy
Administrator Concerns	Parent expectations may be unrealistic for	Funding of nonhandicapped	Liability for children in integrated programs
	child growth  Teachers need training to change negative expectations	children Finding and providing adequate class space Providing transportation	Increased parental expectations for the access to integrated programs (preschool and K-12)
	Building parent awareness and support for integrated programs	to new program  Increased needs for teacher and aide time	Conflict between teachers in programs with different salary bases
·		Increased needs for training related to integration	Conflicts between teachers holding different program philosophies

SOURCE: Peck, C.A., Hayden, L., Wandschneider, M., Peterson, K., & Richarz, S. (1989). Development of integrated preschools: A qualitative inquiry into sources of resistance among parents, administrators, and teachers. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 353-364.

#### Philosophical inconsistencies

According to Telzrow (1992), achieving successful integrated education programs for young children with disabilities requires the satisfactory resolution of philosophical differences between early childhood educators and special educators (Kugelmass, 1989). Safford (1989) conceptualized these differences as the contrast between a "developmentally appropriate practices" orientation and a "special education methods and procedures" or individual child study orientation. Concern about conflict



philosophies was raised as a barrier in a number of studies (Peck et al., 1989; Stafford & Green, 1996).

#### Teacher knowledge

The provision of adequate services to children with serious emotional and behavioral disorders requires the availability of trained and qualified staff from a variety of areas. These professionals must be able to work well on interdisciplinary teams. Staff members need skills in early childhood education and in mental health diagnoses and treatment. All staff members must be trained in working effectively with parents and families. Staff must also be trained in cultural issues to ensure that communication and intervention are appropriate (Peck et al., 1989; Stafford & Green, 1996).

#### Teacher attitudes

An impediment to integration that has received much attention in the research literature is the attitudes of those involved in the process of mainstreaming. Studies assessing the attitudes of teachers comprise the bulk of the research in this area, with a variety of studies producing interesting findings. Although some authors report that teachers have positive attitudes toward mainstreaming, the majority have been less positive, indicating that many teachers continue to hold negative attitudes (O'Reilly & Duquette, 1988). For example, a national survey of parents, policy officials, and program directors of child care and Head Start centers indicated that approximately 60 percent of those surveyed cited negative teacher attitudes toward integration as a barrier (Rose & Smith, 1992, 1993). Another study that examined nonsurviving inclusive preschool programs found that staff attitudes were often a contributing factor.

Educators' attitudes toward inclusive education might be expected to vary based on functional issues, that is, the physical, academic, social, or behavioral accommodations that students with disabilities require in order to function in a regular class, regardless of their labeled disability (Wilcenski, 1992). Ward and Center (1987) asked teachers and administrators to rate on a five-point scale their willingness to include children with characteristics such as short attention span, moderate intellectual ability, mild mobility difficulties, and the need for medical monitoring. A factor analysis revealed five factors in which child characteristics clustered according to the demands children made on teacher time, skills, and needs for assistance, and not on the basis of traditional disability categories.

Several other variables have been identified as potential influences on teacher attitudes toward mainstreaming. Factors including teacher age, educational background, grade level taught, number of special education courses completed, and the nature of support received from administrators and support personnel have all been determined to impact teacher attitudes (Antonak & Livneh, 1988; McEvoy, Nordquist, & Cunningham, 1984; O'Reilly & Duquette, 1988; Stephens & Braun, 1980). The appearance of mainstreamed



children, including their physical and sociodemographic characteristics has also been shown to be influential (McEvoy, Nordquist, & Cunningham, 1984).

#### Staff-family interaction

Several studies have reported that school staff and parents may have difficulties. The relationship between parents and schools has sometimes turned adversarial, characterized by mutual disappointment and scapegoating. One factor that may influence the quality of staff-family interaction is the family's attitude toward integration. A number of studies have documented that parents of preschoolers with and without disabilities, particularly parents of children who participated in an inclusive setting, typically hold positive views about inclusion (Bailey & Winton, 1987, 1989; Diamond & LeFurgy, 1994; Guralnick, 1994; Reichart et al., 1989; Turnbull & Blacher-Dixon, 1980; Turnbull, Winton, Blacher, & Salkind, 1983; Winton, 1986).

Research has also found that attitudes may vary depending upon the child's condition. Some research has found that the type of disability may be important. For example, one study found that parents of children with learning disabilities have been more supportive of integration than parents whose children are emotionally disturbed or mentally retarded (Mylnek, Hannah, & Hamlin, 1982). Other research has reported that parents' perceptions of integration were not related to the severity of the disability itself, but were related to the child's level of behavioral problems, with parents of children with significant behavioral problems identifying more drawbacks than do other parents (Green & Stoneman, 1989; Guralnick, 1994).

#### Structural/curricular requirements

A final issue that has been raised as a barrier to effective integration relates to the structural and curricular requirements of inclusion (Stafford & Green, 1996). For example, teachers often have to restructure their approach to teaching and the nature of their classroom exercises. Special equipment or space modifications may be required. As described in the next section, a number of specific curriculum and programming suggestions have been offered to help minimize this issue.

#### Strategies for promoting integration

As programs have tried to become more inclusive it has become increasingly clear that the success of these efforts for children with and without disabilities depends on a complicated in interrelated array of factors (Lieber et al., 1997). A variety of research has assessed the perceptions of parents, teachers, and administrators regarding what would make programs effective. Other research has identified features of programs that have been found to be effective. When combined, a variety of suggestions are available for creating successful integrated preschool programs. Among these suggestions are the following:



- Promote positive attitudes toward integration through the joint creation of program philosophies and policies. These attitudes can be further enhanced through the creation of supportive joint policy statements by professional organizations (Lieber et al., 1998; Odom, & McEvoy, 1990) and administrative support to the principles of integration (Alper & Ryndak, 1992; Salisbury & Smith, 1991).
- Mix and match useful ideas flexibly from different theoretical perspectives in child development (Honig, 1997).
- Design interagency collaboration models for public and private providers (Odom & McEvoy, 1990).
- Increase personnel's knowledge about inclusive education through support and ongoing staff development. Specific suggestions include changing the coursework required by ECE and ECSE programs, creating multidisciplinary shared practica, and providing intensive inservice training (Antonak & Livneh, 1988; Conn, 1992; Odom & McEvoy, 1990; Salisbury & Smith, 1991)
- Provide sufficient support to classroom teachers from ECSE and other supportive personnel and allow sufficient time for planning (Alper & Ryndak, 1992; Odom & McEvoy, 1990).
- Provide accurate and sufficient information to all parties before mainstreaming occurs (Alper & Ryndak, 1992).
- Create home-school partnerships and maintain intensive parent involvement (Conn, 1992; Honig, 1997; Salisbury & Smith, 1991).
- Integrate the delivery of educational and related services and use integrated services, classrooms, and instructional practices (Conn, 1992; Salisbury & Smith, 1991)
- Allow opportunities for social integration through planned, frequent, and carefully promoted social interactions between children with disabilities and children without disabilities (Conn, 1992; Salisbury & Smith, 1991; Stafford & Green, 1996)
- Provide transitional planning (Conn, 1992).
- Use a well-defined curriculum that is individualized to learner needs and abilities and facilitates individualized goals and objectives (Cavallaro, Haney, & Cabello, 1993)
- Use curricular strategies that have been shown to be effective, such
  as the use of appropriate toys and activities and small, teacherdirected social groupings (Beckman & Kohl, 1984; Guralnick, 1978;
  Jenkins, Odom, & Speltz, 1989; Odom & Strain, 1984).
- Select materials to facilitate engagement and interaction (Cavallaro, Haney & Cabello, 1993).



- Use adult mediation strategies, such as questioning/encouraging/ commenting, responsive prompting, fine-tuning and feedback (Cavallaro, Haney, & Cabello, 1993).
- Model appropriate behavior, promote peer modeling with teacher-directed cues and reinforcement, and provide opportunities for imitative behavior and reinforcement (Apolloni & Cooke, 1978; Cavallaro, Haney, & Cabello, 1993; Schoen et al., 1988; Stafford & Green, 1996).
- Arrange the environment to encourage competence and match the level of difficulty of a task to the present level of competence or understanding that a child has already attained (Honig, 1997).

Taken as a whole, the research indicates that the most effective programs are multidisciplinary and provide direct services to the child. They involve the family in the change process, support children and families by providing access to a variety of community services, use varied intervention approaches in dealing with children, and include individualized educational planning (Baenen, Stephens, & Glenwick, 1986; Planek, 1978; Schmitz & Hilton, 1996; Scruggs, Mastropieri, Cook, & Escobar, 1986; Soderman, 1985).

A final point regarding effective service provision is the importance of incorporating a collaborative team process in planning services (Conn, 1992; Lieber et al., 1998). The planning should include students, family members, special and regular education teachers, administrators, facilities and transportation personnel, and related staff services and community leaders (Alper & Ryndak, 1992). Honig (1997) outlines seven planning decisions that need to be faced when planning integrated services: (1) Should integration begin gradually or quickly?; (2) What are the goals and objectives of the program? (3) What learning model will be used? (4) What ratios and schedules will be feasible? (5) How will the program be staffed? (6) How will the program be evaluated?; and (7) What supports will the staff need? Once the program is in place, collaborative teaming, planning, and decision making should occur (Salisbury & Smith, 1991).

## Specific models for providing services

#### Therapeutic preschools

A review of therapeutic preschool models was conducted in 1992 as part of an earlier Wilder Research Center project for the Foundation (Becker, 1992). As part of this review, research was examined regarding therapeutically oriented programs and their effectiveness. These programs served children with specific developmental delays, language disorders, impaired cognitive function, and behavioral and emotional problems. Most programs provided services to children from environmentally understimulated homes and children who were experiencing developmental delays.



The programs varied considerably in terms of the amount, length and type of services that were provided. The intensity of the programs ranged from one to two hours a day to half-day programs to full-day programs. Most were offered between two and five days a week. Many of the programs were comprehensive and interdisciplinary. Program staff included speech and language therapists, early childhood education teachers, psychologists and psychiatrists. The programs focused on building language and communication skills, increasing prosocial interactions, developing self-help skills, decreasing disruptive behavior and helping the child see cause and effect relationships.

This original review drew seven conclusions from the therapeutic preschool literature. An examination of the last several years of research in this area did not yield any new patterns of results. Thus, the seven conclusions originally drawn would appear to still be valid. These conclusions are as follows:

- Preschool programs do not work equally well for all children. Generally, children with below average intellectual functioning, significant developmental delays, or attention deficit disorders do not make significant progress in therapeutic preschools. However, children from understimulated environments, children experiencing emotional or social problems, and children who have not received appropriate or consistent parenting are more likely to benefit.
- The differential effectiveness found in the studies of therapeutic programs emphasizes the need for a comprehensive assessment of each child's physical, intellectual, behavioral, social and emotional functioning. An intake evaluation is critical to the success of the program and appropriate treatment planning.
- Parent involvement and direct participation in the program is needed in order for the child to make progress in certain areas (e.g., reducing oppositional behavior) and for the progress to generalize to other settings.
- The preschool program must have the capacity to provide or refer parents to other services. Parent-related services are needed and can significantly influence the success of the preschool program.
- The issue of providing therapeutic services in the least restrictive environment was not addressed in any of these models.
- The earlier services are started the better the child's chance for achieving their treatment goals, especially for children who are experiencing behavioral, emotional and social problems.
- Length of service is an important factor. Most children will need to participate in the programs for 1-2 years.



#### Day treatment programs

Day treatment services are conceptualized broadly as any program falling "in the middle of the continuum of care between inpatient and outpatient treatment" (Topp, 1991, p. 107) and represent the most intensive form of nonresidential services currently available (Kutash & Rivera, 1995). Day treatment services are "an integrated set of educational, counseling and family interventions which involve a youngster for at least five hours a day" (Stroul & Friedman 1986, p. 44). Partial hospitalization, which refers to hospital-based day treatment, is defined as the "use of a psychiatric hospital setting for less than 24-hour-a-day care" with children returning to their home each night (Tuma, 1989, p. 193). At the other end of the continuum of day treatment programs are school-based day programs, described as "treatment settings for non-mentally retarded children with severe behavior disorders who are unable to function adaptively in the regular school system" (Baenen, Parris, Stephens & Glenwick, 1986, p. 263).

Day school programs usually include collaboration between mental health and special education professionals, a multidisciplinary treatment approach, low student-teacher ratios, family services, and the ultimate goal of reintegration into the educational or vocational mainstream (Kutash & Rivera, 1995). Services are integrated, can be offered in a variety of settings, and frequently involve collaboration among service agencies. The most common settings for mental health day treatment programs are community mental health centers, public schools, special schools, social service agencies and hospitals. Programs have an average of 8 to 10 students per classroom, with a ratio of one staff member to every two to four students. Most students stay in the program one year or longer. This model is most often used for older children and adolescents, though this model has been used during the preschool period as well.

Research has shown a high degree of effectiveness for day treatment programs (Friedman & Quick, 1983; Friedman, Quick, Palmer & Mayo, 1982; Wood, Combs, Gunn & Weller, 1975). For instance, studies indicate that the programs are effective in mediating behavioral difficulties and addressing academic and preacademic deficiencies (Stroul & Friedman, 1986). However, in their review of the literature in child and adolescent mental health trends, Oswald and Singh (1996) conclude that while the literature on day treatment is generally positive, it tends to lack methodological rigor.

Kutash and Rivera (1995) conducted a review of the literature regarding the effectiveness of children's mental health service strategies. They reached the following five (in their words, tentative) conclusions regarding the effectiveness of day treatment programs:

Day treatment services appear to promote the reintegration of a
portion of children who receive day treatment services. For
example, Cohen, Bradley and Kolers (1987) reported a 42% rate of
reintegration for children attending a preschool day treatment
program.



- Day treatment services may contribute to improvements in individual and family functioning. Studies examining individual or family functioning generally have yielded positive results, including increased appropriate behavior and decreased inappropriate behavior, improved self-perceptions, and improved standardized academic achievement scores (e.g., Grizenko, Papineau & Sayegh, 1993; Grizenko & Sayegh, 1990).
- The family plays a significant role in the child's outcomes following day treatment services. The family's motivation, involvement and stability during and after treatment were important factors in successful outcomes (Cohen, Kolers, & Bradley, 1987; Gabel & Finn, 1986; Sack, Mason, & Collins, 1987).
- Day treatment may be more effective for children without severe behavior problems, children who function at a relatively high developmental level, children who are younger, and children who receive treatment for a longer period of time (Cohen, Bradley & Kolers, 1987; Gabel, Finn, & Ahmad, 1988; Grizenko & Sayegh, 1990; Sack, Mason & Collins, 1987; Sayegh & Grizenko, 1991).
- Based on the small number of studies that examined this variable, evidence seems to suggest that treatment gains do not generalize to the school setting.

According to Schmitz and Hilton (1996) successful day treatment programs typically have the following features:

- A safe and nurturing environment
- An individualized educational program that focused on the child's needs
- Individualized mental health plans
- Clearly stated disciplinary procedures
- Strong links with the community and the family
- Small classes
- Family services including family treatment, parent training and individual counseling for parents
- Case management of tangible needs
- Family outreach with a psychoeducational focus to help parents understand both the developmental and special needs of their child
- Behavior modification for the child skills building and to improve interpersonal problem-solving and practical skills,



- Recreational art and music therapy to foster social and emotional development
- Crisis intervention to pride support and assistance in the development of the family's problem solving skills

## Collaborative models combining education and mental health

Currently, there are two common community-based approaches to providing integrated services to children with severe emotional or behavioral disorders (Wesley, 1994). The first approach is to use classrooms in public schools that provide special education and regular education with added support. The second model consists of the therapeutic and day treatment programs provided by mental health or other social services facilities (Knitzer, et al., 1990; Schmitz & Hilton, 1996).

As inclusive child care options increase, care providers face a critical need for new ideas and skills that integrate sound early childhood and special education practices. Schmitz and Hilton (1996) proposed a model for combining the resources and knowledge of education and mental health organizations to provide a system of collaborative care. They identify several advantages of a collaborative model, including: flexibility of services, shared expenses, services that cost much less than residential treatment, multifaceted treatment in the least restrictive environment, and opportunities to blending funding streams from education and mental health to provide enriched service delivery (Edlefsen & Baird, 1994; Schorr, 1989). Additional benefits come from enhanced program development in local education agencies and mental health centers or appropriate child serving counseling centers.

According to Schmitz and Hilton (1996), an ideal class in a successful collaborative program has approximately 10 to 12 children, served by three professional staff, paraprofessional staff and professional support. The multidisciplinary classroom teams should include at least one teacher and one social worker. Each child requires two individualized plans – education and mental health. Thus, service delivery must be integrated across the two systems. Successful plans also include parent outreach, child development, recreation and crisis intervention.

In their model, key components of successful integrated programs include:

- Family-inclusive, child- and family-centered assessments and interventions
- Classroom services with educational support and treatment for emotional or behavioral disorders
- Assessment and treatment of communication and neurological disorders



- Consistent disciplinary rules
- Environments conducive to the building of positive relationships and trust
- Collaborative, interdisciplinary service delivery
- Case management
- Culturally relevant and culturally sensitive services
- Integration of the program into the local community and the childserving community
- Support in the transition to other programs with ongoing services when needed

Collaborative programs function best when they are staffed by multidisciplinary teams, have low student-to-teacher ratios and use ecological approaches (Baenen, Stephens, et al., 1986; Plenk, 1978; Soderman, 1985). Collaborative, multidisciplinary services expand the knowledge base, the ability to respond in a coordinated comprehensive fashion and the depth of intervention (Melaville & Blank, 1991; Schmitz, 1995).

These authors acknowledge, that while there may be some benefits to this approach, collaborations can be a challenge to implement successfully. Issues such as role and time pressures, professional boundaries and competition and personality clashes may come into play (Missour Linc, 1992; Schmitz, 1995). Not only are professionals from the multiple disciplines trained with separate professional languages, creating communication barriers, but organizations and professions are set up with territorial boundaries designed to establish their expertise as primary. These boundaries take time, training and commitment to overcome. Bureaucratic structures and regulations must also be overcome. Personalities also play a role in successful collaborations. The individuals involved must be flexible, committed, comfortable with ambiguity and respectful of others' expertise and willing to share (Schmitz & Hilton, 1996).

## **Conclusions and recommendations**

The research presented in this review has come from a variety of theoretical perspectives and orientations, encompassing child care, early intervention, elementary education, special education, and mental health services. While the research presented has not always been conclusive, the information gathered across these disciplines does point to some general conclusions regarding the effective provision of education, child care, family support services, and mental health services to an early childhood population.



Wilder Research Center, March, 2000

## Addressing needs of the target population

Before considering conclusions regarding service provision, it is important to address the specific needs of the population to be served. Two points seem to be the most relevant.

- 1. The research has consistently indicated that early childhood education programs show the most benefit for children who are the most at-risk. Program outcomes, including cognitive and academic improvements, are most likely when the families who are being served exhibit risk characteristics such as poverty and single parent status. The clients who have traditionally been served by the Wilder Foundation Child Development Center would generally be characterized as a high-risk population. Thus, there would appear to be great potential for making a meaningful difference in their lives through effective service provision.
- 2. In addition to a consideration of "overall" risk, it is important to remember the specific characteristics of the population being served. Several reviews have concluded that it is important to offer early childhood programs that provide a sufficiently broad array of services in order to meet the needs of the population served. A consideration of the children and families currently being served by the Child Development Center, or those who may be seen as potential clients, may provide useful insights into the specific services that should be included.

## Service intensity, onset, and duration

- 3. Purely child-focused early childhood programs generally do not show differential outcomes based on the amount of time that services were provided, i.e., half-day services were not less effective than full-day services. However, when providing family support or mental health services in coordination with early childhood programming, intensity takes on greater significance. For these types of models, greater intensity of services is related to more positive outcomes.
- 4. There is some research to support provision of services as early as possible.

  Beginning services early, and continuing them for at least one or two years, would provide greater opportunity to make a meaningful impact.
- 5. Research has consistently shown that the benefits of early childhood programs often are not sustained over a long-term period. Once services are discontinued, children typically lose some of the benefits that they may have gained. If the goals of the Child Development center extend beyond provision of quality child care, the Center way want to consider providing transitional services to children leaving the program to enhance long-term effectiveness.
- 6. One explanation for this pattern is that children in disadvantaged areas may be entering schools that are low-quality or returning to neighborhoods that do not



Wilder Research Center, March, 2000

provide the necessary supports. Long-term effectiveness may be improved in part by developing integrated services that are coordinated with school and community programs.

## General features of program quality

- 7. Research has consistently supported five features of program design as indicative of high quality: low class size and student-teacher ratios, appropriate curriculum, adequate staff training, responsive caregiving, and staff stability. These five indicators are strongly tied to better outcomes for children, so every effort should be made to set high standards in these areas.
- 8. The specific form that each of these characteristics should take will vary depending upon the service delivery strategy developed. For example, research on preschool integration has indicated that these areas may play unique roles in determining program success. If an integrative model is used, the program will need to ensure that staff receive ongoing training necessary to work with children with special needs. Similarly, a curriculum approach will need to be established that is appropriate for the specific population that is served.

## Child-focused and/or family-focused services

- 9. It is not surprising that benefits are seen primarily in the area that an intervention targets. Thus, child-focused programs benefit children more than they benefit adults and adult-focused programs tend to benefit adults more than they benefit children. Programs that rely on indirect methods of intervention (influencing the child only through their effects on parents) have some of the weakest results on child outcomes.
- 10. Research reviews have concluded that the child-focused programs which produce the most substantial long-term outcomes combine center-based services for children with significant parent involvement through home visits, classroom participation, or parent group meetings. Parent involvement can be seen as a necessary contributor to success, but not sufficient by itself to produce long-term benefits for children and families. This involvement should be meaningful and sustained.
- 11. Combining family support services with early childhood services may foster improved outcomes for children and families, but only if the services are of sufficient intensity and geared towards the needs of the population served.
- 12. It is not clear whether adding adult-oriented services such as job training or education to an early childhood model would improve outcomes for children or not. The data that are currently available from models such as two-generation programs



and 21<sup>st</sup> Century Schools have not yielded strong child outcomes. However, the research in this area is fairly preliminary and both of these models have strong theoretical underpinnings that may warrant consideration.

#### Provision of mental health services

- 13. Research consistently has indicated that integrative models of early childhood education have benefits for children with disabilities and without disabilities across all educational levels, including preschool. Since most of this research has concerned children with physical disabilities, staff should consider whether these same benefits would exist for children with emotional and behavioral issues.
- 14. To make an integrated setting successful, it will be important to provide sufficient supports to the staff, including training, materials, and resources, and opportunities and time to participate in the planning process.
- 15. The most effective programs have the following features: they are multidisciplinary, provide direct services to the child, involve the family in the change process, support children and families by providing access to a variety of services, use varied intervention approaches and include individualized educational planning.
- 16. Program models such as day treatment programs and therapeutic preschools have found positive outcomes for children and families. However, they generally do not include an integrative or inclusive component. There are features of these models, however, that may be applicable within the Wilder Child Development Center, such as case management and family outreach.
- 17. New collaborative models that combine education and mental health services may provide a useful starting point for developing services for an at-risk early childhood population.

## Appropriate program goals

18. The goal of many initiatives is to lift significant numbers of children out of poverty. This goal has little evidence to support it. Instead, programs should focus on a variety of short-term goals related to family functioning and child outcomes. There is a wealth of evidence to support that many of these programs do make a difference in the lives of children and families.



# **Appendices**

Appendix I:	List of model programs	45
Appendix II:	Bibliography	52



### Appendix I: List of model programs

In addition to the references cited below, information about these programs was adapted from a variety of secondary sources (Barnett, 1995; Campbell & Taylor, 1996; St. Pierre, Layzer, & Barnes, 1995; Yoshikawa, 1995).

- Avance Family Support and Education (1973 to present): This program seeks
  to help children succeed in school by teaching parents to teach their children
  and by meeting parents' educational and job training needs. Services include
  three hours of child care per week while parenting services are delivered to
  the mother, monthly home visits, adult literacy program.
  - Johnson, D. & Walker, T. (1991). Final report of an evaluation of the Avance parent education and family support program. Report submitted to the Carnegie Corporation. San Antonio, TX: Avance.
- <u>Birmingham Parent Child Development Center</u>: Serves children from 3-5 months old until 3 years of age; services include parent support and education.
  - Andrews, S.R., Blumenthal, J.B., Johnson, D.L. et al. (1982). The skills of mothering: A study of the Parent Child Development Centers (New Orleans, Birmingham, Houston). Monographs of the Society for Child Development, 47, 6.
- Brookline Early Education Program
  - Larner, M. (1995). Linking family support and early childhood programs: Issues, experience, opportunities. Chicago: Family Resource Coalition.
  - Pierson, D.E. (1988). The Brookline Early Education Project. In R.H. Price, E.L. Cowen, R.P. Lorion & J. Ramon-McKay (Eds.), 14 ounces of prevention: A casebook for practitioners (pp. 24-31). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- <u>Carolina Abecedarian</u> (1972 to 1985): This program offers full-day child care for preschoolers and a program for school children and parents. The program serves children from 6 weeks until 8 years of age and has collected follow-up data from the children at ages 8, 12 and 15.
  - Campbell, F.A. & Ramey, C.T. (1993). Mid-adolescent outcomes for high-risk students: An examination of the continuing effects of early intervention. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development. New Orleans, March 26, 1993.
  - Campbell, F.A. & Ramey, C.T. (1994). Effects of early intervention on intellectual and academic achievement: A follow-up study of children from low-income families. *Child Development*, 65, 684-698.



- Ramey, C., Bryant, D.M., Campbell, F.A., Sparling, J.J., & Wasik, B.H. (1988). Early intervention for high-risk children: The Carolina Early Intervention Program. In R.H. Price, E.L. Cowen, R.P. Lorion, & J. Ramos-McKay (Eds.). 14 ounces of prevention (pp. 32-43). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Ramey, C.T., & Campbell, F.A. (1987). The Carolina Abecedarian Project: An educational experiment concerning human malleability. In J.J. Gallagher & C.T. Ramey (Eds.), *The malleability of children* (pp. 127-139). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Ramey, C.T. & Campbell, F.A. (1991). Poverty, early childhood education and academic competence: The Abecedarian experiment. In A. Huston (Ed.), *Children in poverty* (pp. 190-221). NY: Cambridge.
- Ramey, C.T., Yeates, K.O., & Short, E.T. (1984). The plasticity of human development: Insights from preventive intervention. *Child Development*, 55, 1913-1925.
- <u>Chicago Child and Parent Center</u>: Child-focused program providing half-day preschool and full-day kindergarten.
  - Reynolds, A.J. (1994). Effects of a preschool plus follow-up intervention for children at risk. *Developmental Psychology*, 30, 787-804.
- <u>Child and Family Resource Program</u> (1973 to 1983): This program was based on the premise that the best way to promote children's growth and development is by supporting families and helping parents become more effective caregivers and educators. Services include a Head Start program and parenting, child development, support and social services delivered through monthly home visits and occasional center-based sessions.
  - Travers, J., Nauta, M. & Irwin, N. (1982). The effects of a social program: Final report of the Child and Family Resource Program's infant-toddler component. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- Comprehensive Child Development Program (1990 to present): This program is funded in 34 sites to provide comprehensive, continuous, coordinated social, health, and educational services to low-income families with a newborn child for up to five years. Services include developmental screening, center-based and home-based child care, home visits, Head Start program, parenting education, adult literacy education, vocational training, employment counseling, and job training and placement. Many services are provided through linkages and referrals to other agencies.
  - St. Pierre, R.G., Goodson, B.D., Layzer, J.I. & Bernstein, L. (1994). National evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program: Report to Congress. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.



- <u>Curriculum Comparison Study</u> (1965 to 1967): Examines results of a part-day preschool program and a kindergarten program.
  - Miller, L.B., & Bizzell, R.P. (1983). The Louisville Experiment: A comparison of four programs. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 171-200).
  - Miller, L.B. & Bizzell, R.P. (1983). Long-term effects of four preschool programs: Sixth, seventh, and eighth grades. *Child Development*, 54, 725-741.
  - Miller, L.B. & Bizzell, R.B. (1984). Long-term effects of four preschool programs: Ninth and tenth grade results. *Child Development*, 55, 1570-1587.
- Early Training Project (1962 to 1967): Services provided include home visits and a summer part-day preschool program for children between the ages of 4 and 6.
  - Gray, S.W., Ramsey, B. & Klaus, R. (1982). From 3 to 20: The Early Training Project. Baltimore, MD: University Park Press.
  - Gray, S., Ramsey, B., & Klaus, R. (1983). The Early Training Project, 1962-1980. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 33-70). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Even Start Family Literacy Program (1990 to present): More than 400 local sites participate in this program. Services vary in different locations depending on needs and linkages, but often include Head Start, Chapter 1, Even Start preschools, parenting education, adult basic education, adult secondary education, and GED preparation.
  - St. Pierre, R.G., Swartz, J.P., Gamse, B. et al. (1995). National evaluation of Even Start Family Literacy Program: Final report. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- Florida Parent Education Project (1966 to 1970): Part-day preschool for children between the ages of 2 and 3 twice a week and home visits.
  - Jester, R.E. & Guinagh, B.J. (1983). The Gordon Parent Education Infant and Toddler Program. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent.. lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 103-132). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Harlem Study: Provided short-term intervention to two- and three-year-olds.
  - Palmer, F.H. (1983). The Harlem Study: Effects by type of training, age of training, and social class. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Eds.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 201-236). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.



- Head Start Family Service Centers (1990 to present): This program is funded in 66 sites. Each site provides regular Head Start services. Case management is used to assess needs and to provide referrals to adult literacy and employment training programs.
  - Swartz, J.P., Smith, C., Berghauer, G. et al. (1994). Evaluation of the Head Start Family Service Center Demonstration Projects: First year evaluation results. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- High/Scope Perry Preschool Project (1962 to 1967): This program provided a
  preschool program and home visits. Follow-ups have been continued into
  adulthood.
  - Barnett, W. (1985). The Perry Preschool Program and long-term effects: A benefit-cost analysis. High/Scope Early Childhood Policy Papers, No. 2.
  - Barnett, W.S., Young, J., & Schweinhart, L.J. (1994). How preschool education contributes to cognitive development and school success: An empirical model. Paper presented at the Rutgers Invitational Symposium on Education. New Brunswick, NJ. October 28, 1994.
  - Berruetta-Clement, J.R., Schweinhart, L.J., Barnett, W.S., Epstein, A.S. & Weikart, D.P. (1984). Changed lives: The effects of the Perry Preschool Program on youths through age 19. Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, no. 8. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope.
  - Clement, J.R.B., Schweinhart, L.J., Barnett, W.S., Epstein, A.S., & Weikart, D.P. (1984). Changed lives: The effects of the Perry Preschool Program on youths through age 19 (Monograph No. 8). Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope.
  - Schweinhart, L. (1985). *The preschool challenge*. High/Scope Early Childhood Policy Papers (No. 4).
  - Schweinhart, L.J., Barnes, H.V., Weikart, D.P. et al. (1993). Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool study through age 27. Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation. No. 10. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Educational Research Foundation.
  - Schweinhart, L.J., & Weikart, D.P. (1980). Young children grow up: The effects of the Perry Preschool Program on youths through age 15. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
  - Schweinhart, L.J., & Weikart, D.P. (1993). A summary of significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool Study through age 27. In L.J. Schweinhart & D.P. Weikart (Eds.)., Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool study through age 27. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
  - Schweinhart, L.J., & Weikart, D.P. (1997). Lasting differences: The High/Scope preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23 (Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, 12). Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.



- Weikart, D.P., (Ed.). (1967). Preschool intervention: A preliminary report of the Perry Preschool Project. Ann Arbor, MI: Campus Publishers.
- Weikart, D.P., Bond, J.T., & McNeil, J.T. (1978). The Ypsilanti Perry Preschool Project: Preschool years and longitudinal results through fourth grade. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Weikart, D.P., Epstein, A.S., Schweinhart, L.J., & Bond, J.T. (1978). The Ypsilanti Preschool Curriculum Demonstration Project: Preschool years and longitudinal results. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Zigler, E., & Styfco, S.J. (1994). Is the Perry preschool better than Head Start? Yes and no. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 9, 269-287.
- Houston Parent Child Development Center (1970 to 1980): This program provided full-day child care for children between the ages of 1 and 5, home visits, and a center-based program for parents.
  - Andrews, S.R., Blumenthal, J.B., Johnson, D.L. et al. (1982). The skills of mothering: A study of parent-child development centers. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development. No. 198, 46.*
  - Johnson, D. & Walker, T. (1991). A follow-up evaluation of the Houston Parent Child Development Center: School performance. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 15, 226-236.
- Infant Health and Development Program: Provides home visits on weekly and biweekly bases, half-day preschool, and bimonthly parent group meetings.
  - Infant Health and Development Program. (1990). Enhancing the outcomes of low-birthweight, premature infants: A multisite randomized trial. *Pediatrics*, 263, 294-304.
  - Brooks-Gunn, J., McCormick, M.C., Shapiro, S. et al. (1994). The effects of early education intervention on maternal employment, public assistance,, and health insurance: The Infant Health and Development Program. *The American Journal of Public Health*, 84, 924-931.
- <u>Institute for Developmental Studies</u> (1963 to 1967): Provided home visits, a part-day preschool program and a parent center school serving grades K-3.
  - Deutsch, M., Deutsch, C.P., Jordan, T.J., & Grallow, R. (1983). The IDS Program: An experiment in early and sustained enrichment. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent... lasting effects of preschool programs. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Milwaukee Project (1968 to 1978): Program provides full-day child care and job and academic training for mothers.



- Garber, H.L. (1988). The Milwaukee Project: Prevention of mental retardation in children at risk. Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Retardation.
- Garber, H., & Heber, R. (1983). Modification of predicted cognitive development in high-risk children through early intervention. In M.K. Detterman & R.J. Sternberg (Eds.), *How much can intelligence be increased?* (pp. 121-137). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- New Chance (1989 to 1992): Comprehensive program for disadvantaged young mothers and their children. Services include case management, educational services (life skills, parenting education, pediatric health), GED preparation, adult education, vocational training, job placement, and free child care in high quality centers.
  - St. Pierre, R.G., Swartz, J.P., Gamse, B. et al. (1995). National evaluation of Even Start Family Literacy Program: Final report. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- <u>Philadelphia Project</u> (1963 to 1964): Conducted a party-day preschool program and home visits.
  - Beller, K. (1983). The Philadelphia study: The impact of preschool on intellectual and socioemotional development. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Eds.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 133-170). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Project CARE: Provides home visits and full-day child care.
  - Wasik, B.H., Ramey, C.T., Bryant, D.M., & Sparling, 1990. (1990). A longitudinal study of two early intervention strategies: Project CARE. *Child Development*, 61, 1682-1696.
- Syracuse Family Development Research Program (1969 to 1975): Provides full-day child care and home visits.
  - Lally, J.R., Mangione, P. & Honig, A. (1988). The Syracuse University Family Development Program: Long-range impact of early intervention with low-income children and their families. In D. Powell (Ed.), Parent education as early childhood intervention: Merging directions theory research and practice.
  - Lally, J.R., Mangione, P.L., Honig, A.S., & Wittner, D.S. (April, 1988). More pride, less delinquency: Findings from the ten year follow-up of the Syracuse University Family Development Research Program. Zero to Three, 8, 13-18.
- <u>Verbal Interaction Project</u>: Provided home-based language stimulation program for two- or three-year-olds.



- Levenstein, P., O'Hara, J., & Madden, J. (1983). The mother-child home program of the Verbal Interaction Program. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent.. lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 237-264). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Yale Child Welfare Research Program (1968 to 1974): Provides home visits, full-day child care, pediatric care and developmental screenings for children up to 30 months of age.
  - Provence, S. & Naylor, A. (1983). Working with disadvantaged parents and their children. New Haven, CT: Yale.
  - Seitz, V., Rosenbaum, L.K. & Apfel, N.H. (1985). Effects of family support intervention: A ten-year follow-up. *Child Development*, 56, 376-391.
  - Seitz, V. & Apfel. N.H. (1994). Parent-focused intervention: Diffusion effects on siblings. *Child Development*, 65, 677-683.



#### Appendix II: Bibliography

- Adams, G. & Sandfort, J. (1994). First steps, promising futures: State prekindergarten initiatives in the early 1990s. Washington, DC: Children's Defense Fund.
- Adger, S. (1995). Project Challenge: A therapeutic child care program. Pinellas Park, FL: Coordinated Child Care of Pinellas, Inc.
- Administration on Children, Youth, and Families. (1985). Project Head Start: Statistical fact sheet. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services.
- Administration on Children, Youth, and Families. (1989). Project Head Start statistical fact sheet. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services.
- Administration on Children, Youth, and Families, Administration for Children and Families. (February 1995). *Project Head Start statistical fact sheet*. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services.
- Agosta, J. (1992). Building a comprehensive support system for families. In A. Algarin & R.M. Friedman (Eds.), Fourth annual research conference proceeding for a system of care for children's mental health: Expanding the research base (pp. 3-16). Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Mental Health Institute, Research and Training Center for Children's Mental Health.
- Alexander, K. & Entwistle, D. (1988). Achievement in the first two years of school: Patterns and processes. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 53.
- Allen, D.A., Afflect, G., McGrade, B.J., & McQueeney, M. (1984). Factors in the effectiveness of early childhood intervention for low socioeconomic status families. *Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded*, 19, 254-260.
- Allen, M. (1993). Definitions for family programs. Chicago: National Resource Center on Family Based Services.
- Alper, S., & Ryndak, D.L. (1992). Educating students with severe handicaps in regular classes. Elementary School Journal, 92, 373-387.
- American Orthopsychiatric Association. (April 1994). Strengthening mental health in Head Start:

  Pathways to quality improvement. Report of the Task Force on Head Start and Mental Health. NY:

  American Orthopsychiatric Association.
- Anderson, C.W., Nagel, R.J., Roberts, W.A. & Smith, J.W. (1981). Attachment to substitute caregivers as a function of center quality and caregiver involvement. *Child Development*, 52, 53-61.
- Andersson, B.E. (1988). The effects of public day care a longitudinal study. Presented at a workshop on International Developments in Child Care, NAS Study Center, Woods Hole, MA.
- Andersson, B.E. (1989). Effects of public day care A longitudinal study. Child Development, 60, 857-866.
- Andersson, B.E. (1989). The importance of public day care for preschool children's later development. *Child Development*, 60, 857-866.
- Andersson, B.E. (1992). Effects of day-care on cognitive and socioemotional competence of thirteenyear-old Swedish schoolchildren. *Child Development*, 3, 20-36.
- Andersson, B.E. (1996). Children's development related to day-care, type of family, and other home factors. European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 5, 73-75.
- Andrews, S.R., Blumenthal, J.B., Johnson, D.L. et al. (1982). The skills of mothering: A study of the Parent Child Development Centers (New Orleans, Birmingham, Houston). *Monographs of the Society for Child Development*, 47, 6.



- Antonak, R.F., & Livneh, H. (1988). The measurement of attitudes toward people with disabilities: Methods, psychometrics, and scales. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Apolloni, T. & Cooke, R.P. (1978). Integrated programming at the infant, toddler, and preschool levels. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 147-165). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Arnett, J. (1989). Caregivers in day-care centers: Does training matter? *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 10, 541-552.
- Baenen, R.S., Parris Stephens, M.A. & Glenwick, D.S. (1986). Outcome in psychoeducational day programs: A review. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 56, 263-270.
- Bagnato, S.J., Kontos, S., & Neisworth, J. (1987). Integrated day care as special education: Profiles of programs and children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 7, 28-47.
- Bailey, D.B. (1994). Working with families of children with special needs. In M. Wolery & J.S. Wilbers (Eds.), *Including children with special needs in early childhood programs* (pp. 23-44). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Bailey, D.B. (1997, April). Early education and families and what it means for tomorrow. Presentation at the 1997 International Council for Exceptional Children Conference, Salt Lake City, UT.
- Bailey, D.B., Palsha, S.A. & Huntington, G.S. (1990). Preservice preparation of special educators to serve infants with handicaps and their families: Current status and training needs. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 14, 43-54.
- Bailey, D.B., Simeonsson, R.J., Winton, P.J., Huntington, G.S., Comfort, M., Isbell, P., O'Donnell, K.J., & Helm, J.M. (1986). Family-focused intervention: A functional model for planning, implementing, and evaluating individualized family services in early intervention. *Journal of the Division for Early Education*, 10, 156-171.
- Bailey, D.B., & Winton, P.J. (1987). Stability and change in parents' expectations about mainstreaming. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 7, 73-88.
- Bailey, D.B., & Winton, P.J. (1989). Friendship and acquaintance among families in a mainstreamed day care center. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation*, 24, 107-113.
- Balleyguier, G., Meudec, M. & Chasseigne, G. (1991). Caretaking methods and temperament among young children. *Enfance*, 45, 153-169.
- Barnett, D.W. (1986). School psychology in preschool settings: A review of training and practice issues. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 17, 58-64.
- Barnett, D.W. & Paget, K.D. (1989). Alternative service delivery in preschool settings: Practical and conceptual foundations. In J.L. Graden, J.E. Zins, & M.J. Curtis (Eds.), *Alternative educational delivery systems: Enhancing instructional options for all students* (pp. 291-308). Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Barnett, W. (1985). The Perry Preschool Program and long-term effects: A benefit-cost analysis. High/Scope Early Childhood Policy Papers, No. 2.
- Barnett, W.S. (1992). Benefits of compensatory preschool education. *Journal of Human Resources*, 27, 279-312.
- Barnett, W.S. (1993). Benefit-cost analysis of preschool education: Findings from a 25-year follow-up. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 63, 500-508.
- Barnett, W.S. (1993). New wine in old bottles: Increasing the coherence of early childhood care and education policy. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 8, 519-558.



- Barnett, W.S. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes. *Future of Children*, 5, 25-51.
- Barnett, W.S. (1998). Long-term cognitive and academic effects of early childhood education of children in poverty. *Preventive Medicine: An international devoted to practice and theory, 27, 204-207.*
- Barnett, W.S., Frede, E.C., Mobasher, H. & Mohr, P. (1987). The efficacy of public preschool programs and the relationship of program quality to efficacy. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 10, 37-49.
- Barnett, W.S., Young, J., & Schweinhart, L.J. (1994). How preschool education contributes to cognitive development and school success: An empirical model. Paper presented at the Rutgers Invitational Symposium on Education. New Brunswick, NJ.
- Baydar, N., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (1991). Effects of maternal employment and child-care arrangements on preschoolers' cognitive and behavioral outcomes: Evidence from the children of the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 932-945.
- Beck, S.A., Meadowcroft, P., Mason, M. & Kiely, E.S. (1998). Multiagency outcome evaluation of children's services: A case study. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 25, 163-176.
- Becker, L. (1992). Therapeutic preschools. Unpublished document.
- Beckman, P.J., & Kohl, F.L. (1984). The effects of social and isolate toys on the interactions and play of integrated an non-integrated groups of preschoolers. *Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded*, 19, 169-174.
- Beckman-Bell, P. (1981). Child-related stress in families of handicapped children. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 1, 45-54.
- Beller, E.K. (1974). Impact of early education on disadvantaged children. In S. Ryan (Ed.), *A report on longitudinal evaluations of pre-school programs* (Vol. 1, pp. 15-48). Washington, DC: Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.
- Beller, K. (1983). The Philadelphia Study: The impact of preschool on intellectual and socio-emotional development. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.)., As the twig is bent... lasting effects of preschool programs. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Belsky, J. (1984). Two waves of day care research: Developmental effects and conditions of quality. In R.C. Ainslie (Ed.), *The child and the day care setting* (pp. 24-42). New York: Praeger.
- Belsky, J. (1988). The "effects" of infant day care reconsidered. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 3, 235-272.
- Belsky, J. (1990). Parental and nonparental care and children's socioemotional development: A decade in review. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 52, 885-903.
- Belsky, J. (1992). Consequences of child care for children's development: A deconstructionist view. In A. Booth (Ed.), *Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences* (pp. 83-94). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Belsky, J., & Steinberg, L. (1978). The effects of daycare: A critical review. *Child Development*, 49, 929-949.
- Benasich, A.A., Brooks-Gunn, J. & Clewell, B.C. (1992). How do mothers benefit from early intervention programs? *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 13, 311-362.
- Bennett, T., DeLuca, D. & Bruns, D. (1997). Putting inclusion into practice: Perspectives of teachers and parents. *Exceptional Children*, 64, 115-131.
- Bereiter, C., & Englemann, S. Teaching the disadvantaged child in the preschool. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1966.



- Berghout, A.M., Godfrey, M.K., Larsen, J.M., Knudsen Lindauer, S.L. et al. (1996). Determinants of children's satisfaction with their child care providers. *Early Child Development & Care*, 115, 19-36.
- Berrueta-Clement, J.L., Schweinhart, L., Barnett, W., Epstein, A. & Weikart, D. (1984). Changed lives: The effects of the Perry Preschool program on youths through age 19. Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation (No. 8).
- Besharov, D.J. (February 2, 1992). Why Head Start needs a re-start. Washington Post.
- Black, M.M. & Krishnakumar, A. (1998). Children in low-income urban settings: Interventions to promote health and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 53, 635-646.
- Blom, G.E., Farley, G.K. & Kanger, E. (1973). A psychoeducational program: Its characteristics and results. In G.E. Blom & G.K. Farley (Eds.). Report on Activities of the Day Care Center of the University of Colorado Medical Center to the Commonwealth Foundation. Denver: University of Colorado Medical Center Press.
- Bogat, G.A. & Gensheimer, L.K. (1986). Discrepancies between the attitudes and actions of parents choosing day care. *Child Care Quarterly*, 15, 159-169.
- Bolger, K.E., & Scarr, S. (1995). Not so far from home: How family characteristics predict child care quality. Early Development and Parenting, 4, 103-112.
- Boocock, S.S. (1995). Early childhood programs in other nations: Goals and outcomes. Future of Children. 5, 94-114.
- Booth, A. (Ed.). Child Care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Bradley, R.H., Caldwell, B.M., Rock, S.L., Ramey, C.T., Barnard, K.E., Gray, C., Hammond, M.A., Mitchell, S., Gottfried, A.W., Siegel, I., & Johnson, D.L. (1989). Home environment and cognitive development in the first three years of life: A collaborative study involving six sites and three ethnic groups in North America. *Developmental Psychology*, 25, 217-235.
- Braun, S.J., & Caldwell, B.M. (1973). Emotional adjustment of children in day care who enrolled prior to or after age of three. Early Child Development and Care, 2, 13-21.
- Brayfield, A.A., Deich, S.G., & Hofferth, S.L. (1993). Caring for children in low-income families: A substudy of the National Child Care Survey, 1990. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.
- Bredekamp, S. (Ed.) (1987). Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Bredekamp, S. (1989). Measuring quality through a national accreditation system for early childhood programs. Presented at American Educational Research Association, San Francisco, CA.
- Bredekamp, S. (1990). An overview of NAEYC's criteria for high quality early childhood programs. In B. Willer (Ed.), *Reaching the full cost of quality* (pp. 41-51). Washington, DC: NAEYC.
- Breitmayer, B.J. & Ramey, C.T. (1986). Biological nonoptimality and quality of postnatal environment as codeterminants of intellectual development. *Child Development*, 57, 1151-1165.
- Bricker, D.D. (1978). A rationale for the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children. In M. Guralnick (Ed.). Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 3-26). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Bricker, D. (1995). The challenge of inclusion. Journal of Early Intervention, 19, 179-194.
- Brim, O.G. & Kagan, J. (1980). Constancy and change: A view of the issues. In O.G. Brim & J. Kagan. (Eds). Constancy and change in human development. Cambridge, MA: Harvard.



- Bristol, M.M. & Gallagher, J.J. (1982). A family focus for intervention. In C. Ramey & P. Trohanis (Eds.), Finding and educating the high risk and handicapped infant (pp. 137-161). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Britner, P.A. & Phillips, D.A. (1995). Predictors of parent and provider satisfaction with child day care dimensions: A comparison of center-based and family child day care. *Child Welfare*, 74, 1135-1168.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1974). Is early intervention effective? Washington, DC: Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.
- Brooks-Gunn, J., McCormick, M.C., Shapiro, S. et al. (1994). The effects of early education intervention on maternal employment, public assistance, and health insurance: The Infant Health and Development Program. *American Journal of Public Health*, 84, 924-931.
- Brown, W.H. (1995). Inclusive therapeutic preschool programs for young children. *Dimensions of Early Childhood*, 23, 22-27, 40.
- Brown, W.H., Horn, E.M., Heiser, J.G., & Odom, S.L. (1996). Project BLEND: An inclusive model of early intervention services. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 20, 364-375.
- Bruder, M.B. (1993). The provision of early intervention and early childhood special education within community early childhood programs: Characteristics of effective service delivery. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 13, 19-37.
- Bruder, M.B., Sachs, S., & Deiner, P. (1990). Models of integration through early intervention/childcare collaboration. Zero to Three, 10, 14-17.
- Bryant, D.M., Burchinal, M., Lau, L., & Sparling, J.J. (1994). Family and classroom correlates of Head Start children's developmental outcomes. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 9, 289-309.
- Bryant, D.M., Peisner, E.S., & Clifford, R.M. (1993). Evaluation of public preschool programs in North Carolina. Chapel Hill, NC: Frank Porter Graham Child Development Center.
- Bryant, D.M. & Ramey, C.T. (1987). An analysis of the effectiveness of early intervention programs for environmentally at-risk children. In M.J. Guralnick & F.C. Bennett (Eds.), *The effectiveness of early intervention for at-risk and handicapped children* (pp. 33-78). Orlando: Academic Press.
- Burchinal, M., Lee, M. & Ramey, C. (1989). Type of day-care and preschool intellectual development in disadvantaged children. *Child Development*, 60, 128-137.
- Burchinal, M.R., Ramey, S.L., Reid, M.K. & Jaccard, J. (1995). Early child care experiences and their association with family and child characteristics during middle childhood. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 10, 33-61.
- Buysse, V.B. (1993). Friendships of preschoolers with disabilities in community-based childcare settings. Journal of Early Intervention, 17, 380-395.
- Buysse, V.B. & Bailey, D.B. (1993). Behavioral and developmental outcomes in young children with disabilities in integrated and segregated settings: A review of comparative studies. *Journal of Special Education*, 26, 434-461.
- Buysse, V.B. & Bailey, D. (1994). Behavioral and developmental outcomes in young children with disabilities in integrated and segregated settings: A review of comparative studies. *Journal of Special Education*, 26, 434-461.
- Buysse, B., Wesley, P., Keyes, L., & Bailey, D. (1996). Assessing the comfort zone of childcare teachers in serving young children with disabilities. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 20, 189-203.
- Caldwell, B.M. & Freyer, M. (1982). Day care and early education. In B. Spadek (Ed.), Handbook of Research in Early Childhood Education. NY: Free Press.



- Caldwell, B.M., Wright, B. & Honig, A. & Tannenbaum, G. (1970). Infant day care and attachment. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 40, 397-412.
- Campbell, F.A. & Ramey, C.T. (1993). Mid-adolescent outcomes for high-risk students: An examination of the continuing effects of early intervention. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development. New Orleans, March 1993.
- Campbell, F.A. & Ramey, C.T. (1994). Effects of early intervention on intellectual and academic achievement: A follow-up study of children from low-income families. *Child Development*, 65, 684-698.
- Campbell, F.A. & Taylor, K. (1996). Early childhood programs that work for children from economically disadvantaged families. *Young Children*, 51, 74-80.
- Campbell, J. (1997). The next step: Parent perspectives of transition to preschool of children with disabilities. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, 22, 30-34.
- Campbell, S.B. (1995). Behavior problems in preschool children: A review of recent research. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 36, 113-146.
- Carnegie Corporation of New York. (1994). Starting points: Meeting the needs of our youngest children. NY: Carnegie Corporation of New York.
- Carter, J.L. (1994). Moving from principles to practice: Implementing a family-focused approach in schools and community services. *Equity and Choice*, 10, 4-9.
- Carter, L.F. (1984). The sustaining effects study of compensatory and elementary education. Educational Researcher, 13, 4-13.
- Casper, L.M. (1995). What does it cost to mind our preschoolers? Washington, DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- Casper, L.M. (1996). Who's minding our preschoolers? Current Population Reports (Series 70, No. 53). Washington, DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- Casper, L.M., Hawkins, M. & O'Connell, M. (1994). Who's minding the kids? Child care arrangements, Fall 1991. Washington, DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- Casto, G. & Mastropieri, M.A. (1986). The efficacy of early intervention programs for handicapped children: A meta-analysis. Exceptional Children, 52, 417-424.
- Caughy, M.O., DiPietro, J., & Strobino, M. (1994). Day-care participation as a protective factor in the cognitive development of low-income children. *Child Development*, 65, 457-471.
- Cavallaro, C.C., Ballard-Rosa, M., & Lynch, E.W. (1998). A preliminary study of inclusive special education services for infants, toddlers, and preschool age children in California. *Topics in Early Childhood Education*, 18, 169-182.
- Cavallaro, C.C., Haney, M., & Cabello, B. (1993). Developmentally appropriate strategies for promoting full participation in early childhood settings. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 13, 293-307.
- Ceci, S.J. (1991). How much does schooling influence general intelligence and its cognitive components? A reassessment of the evidence. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 703-722.
- Child Welfare League of America, Inc. (1992). Standards of excellence for child day care services (rev. ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Children's Bureau. (1994). Program instructions log no. ACYF-PI-94-01 (pp. 5-15). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families.
- Children's Defense Fund. (1992). State of America's children 1992. Washington, DC: Author.



- Children's Defense Fund. (1994). State of America's children 1994. Washington, DC: Author.
- Chin-Quee, D., & Scarr, S. (1994). Lack of longitudinal effects of infant and preschool child care on school-age children's social and intellectual development. *Early Development and Parenting*, 3, 103-112.
- Chorvinsky, M. (1982). Preliminary enrollment 1980. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Christenson, S., Abery, B. & Weinberg, R.A. (1986). An alternative model for the delivery of psychological services in the school community. In S.N. Elliott & J.C. Witt (Eds.), *The delivery of psychological services in the schools* (pp. 349-391). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Clarke, A.M. & Clarke, A.D.B. (1981). Sleeper effects in development: Fact or artifact? *Developmental Review*, 1, 344-360.
- Clarke, A.M. & Clarke, A.D.B. (1982). Intervention and sleeper effects: A reply to Victoria Seitz. Developmental Review, 2, 76-78.
- Clarke, S.H. & Campbell, F.A. (1998). Can intervention early prevent crime later? The Abecedarian Project compared with other programs. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 13, 319-343.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1987). Predicting child development from child care forms and features: The Chicago study. In D.A. Phillips (Ed.), Quality in childcare: What does research tell us? (pp. 21-43). Washington, DC: NAEYC.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1988). The 'effects of infant day care reconsidered' reconsidered. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 3, 293-318.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1989). Infant day care: Maligned or malignant? *American Psychologist*, 44, 266-273.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1991). A home is not a school: The effects of child care on children's development. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47, 105-123.
- Clarke-Stewart, A. (1992). Consequences of child care for children's development. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 63-82). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. & Fein, G.G. (1983). Early childhood programs. In Ph.D. Mussen, M. Haith, & J. Campos (Eds.), Handbook of child psychology (Vol. 2, pp. 917-1000). NY: Wiley.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. & Gruber, C.P. (1984). Day care forms and features. In R.C. Ainslie (Ed.), The child and the day care setting. NY: Praeger.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A., Gruber, C.P., & Fitzgerald, L.M. (1994). Children at home and in day care. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clement, J.R.B., Schweinhart, L.J., Barnett, W.S., Epstein, A.S., & Weikart, D.P. (1984). Changed lives: The effects of the Perry Preschool Program on youths through age 19 (Monograph No. 8). Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope.
- Cochran, M.M. (1977). A comparison of group day and family-based childrearing patterns in Sweden. *Child Development*, 48, 702-707.
- Cochran, M.M. (Ed.). (1993). International handbook of child care policies and programs. Westport, CT: Greenwood.
- Cohen, E. & Ooms, T. (1994). Looking ahead: The promise of Head Start as a comprehensive family support program. Washington, DC: The Family Impact Seminar.
- Cohen, N.J., Bradley, S., & Kolers, N. (1987). Outcome evaluation of a therapeutic day treatment program for delayed and disturbed preschoolers. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26, 687-693.



- Cohen, N.J., Kolers, N., & Bradley, S. (1987). Predictors of the outcome of treatment in a therapeutic preschool. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 26, 829-833.
- Colorado Department of Education. (1983). Effectiveness of early special education for handicapped children. Denver: Author.
- Consortium for Developmental Continuity. (1977). The persistence of preschool effects. Washington, DC: Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.
- Consortium for Longitudinal Studies. (1983). As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cook, R.E., Tessier, A., & Klein, M.D. (Eds.). Adapting early childhood curricula for children with special needs. New York: Merrill.
- Cooke, T.P., Ruskus, J.A., Apolloni, T., & Peck, C.A. (1981). Handicapped preschool children in the mainstream: Background, outcomes, and clinical suggestions. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 1, 3-83.
- Copple, C.M., Cline, M. & Smith, A. (1987). Path to the future: Long-term effects of Head Start in the Philadelphia School District. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Cost, Quality, and Child Outcomes Study Team. (1995). Cost, quality, and child outcomes in child care centers (Public Report, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Denver: University of Colorado at Denver, Economics Department.
- Curtis, C.M. (1997). Factors influencing parents' perceptions of child care services: Implications for public policy formulation. *Journal of Black Studies*, 27, 768-782.
- Daniels, J. (1996). The complexities of child care. In E.J. Erwin (Ed.), Putting children first: Visions for a brighter future for young children and their families (pp. 173-196). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Darlington, R.D., Joyce, J.M., Snipper, A.S., Murray, H.W., & Lazar, I. (1980). Preschool programs and later school competence of children from low income families. *Science*, 208, 202-204.
- Davis, N.S. & Thornburg, K.R. (1994). Child care: A synthesis of research. Early Child Development and Care, 98, 39-45.
- Day, B.D. (1988). What's happening in early childhood programs across the United States. In C. Warger (Ed.), A resource guide to public school early childhood programs (pp. 3-31). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Dean, C. (1992). Parent-caregiver partnership: Communication workshops for parents and child care providers. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Cooperative Extension.
- Deater-Deckard. K., Pinkerton, R., & Scarr S. (1996). Child care quality and children's behavioral adjustment: A four-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 37(8), 937-948.
- DeHaas, J., & Pearman, E. (1996). Promoting quality services for preschoolers with special needs in community-based programs. Child and Youth Care Forum, 25, 155-163.
- Demchak, M., Kontos, S., & Neisworth, J. (1992). Using a pyramid model to teach behavior management procedures to childcare providers. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 12, 458-477.
- Desai, S., Chase-Lansdale, P.L., Michael, R.T. (1989). Mother or market? Effects of maternal employment on the intellectual ability of four-year-old children. Demography, 26, 545-561.
- Deutsch, M., Deutsch, C.P., Jordan, T.J., & Grallow, R. (1983). The IDS Program: An experiment in early and sustained enrichment. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.)., As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.



- Devoney, C., Guralnick, M.J., & Rubin, H. (1974). Integrating handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children: Effects on social play. *Childhood Education*, 50, 360-364.
- Diamond, K.E., & LeFurgy, W.G. (1994). Attitudes of parents of preschool children toward integration. Early Education and Development, 5, 69-77.
- Division for Early Childhood. (1993). Position statement on inclusion. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Dodge, D.T. (1995). The importance of curriculum in achieving quality child day care programs. *Child Welfare*, 74, 1171-1188.
- Doggett, L., & George, J. (1995). All kids count: Childcare and the Americans with Disabilities Act. Arlington, TX: The ARC.
- Doherty, G. (1991). Quality matters in child care. Ontario: Jesmond.
- Dumka, L.E., Roosa, M.W., Michaels, M.L. & Suh, K.W. (1995). Using research and theory to develop prevention programs for high risk families. Family Relations: Journal of Applied Family & Child Studies, 44, 78-86.
- Duncan, B.B., Forness, S.R. & Hartsough, C. (1995). Students identified as seriously emotionally disturbed in school-based day treatment: Cognitive, psychiatric, and special education characteristics. *Behavioral Disorders*, 20, 238-252.
- Dunn, C.J. (1995). Key characteristics and features of community-based family support programs. Chicago: Family Resource Coalition.
- Dunn, L. (1993). Proximal and distal features of day care quality and children's development. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 8, 167-192.
- Dunst, C.J. & Rheingrover, R.M. (1981). Analysis of the efficacy of infant intervention programs for handicapped children. Evaluation and Program Planning, 4, 287-323.
- Dunst, C.J., Trivette, C.M., & Deal, A.G. (1988). Enabling and empowering families: Principles and guidelines for practice. Cambridge, MA: Brookline.
- Durkin, R. (1998). Educating for "therapeutic" child care: Some issues, considerations and a conceptual framework for a proposed "curriculum." Residential Treatment for Children & Youth, 16, 33-63.
- Edgar, E., McNulty, B., Gaetz, J., & Maddox, M. (1984). Educational placement of graduates of preschool programs for handicapped children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 4, 19-29.
- Edlefsen, M., & Baird, M. (1994). Making it work: Preventive mental health care for disadvantaged preschoolers. *Social work*, 39, 566-573.
- Eiserman, W.D., Shisler, L., & Healey, S. (1995). A community assessment of preschool providers' attitudes toward inclusion. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 19, 149-167.
- Endsley, R.C., & Bradbard, M.R. (1987). Dissatisfaction with previous child care among current users of proprietary center care. *Child and Youth Care Quarterly*, 16, 249-262.
- Endsley, R.C., & Miniis, P.A. (1991). Parent-staff communication in day care centers during morning and afternoon transitions. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 6, 119-135.
- Epstein, A.S., Schweinhart, L.J., & McAdoo, L. (1996). Models of early childhood education. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Erdwins, C.J., Casper, W.J. & Buffardi, L.C. (1998). Child care satisfaction: The effects of parental gender and type of child care used. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 27, 111-123.



- Ershler, J.L. (1992). Model programs and service delivery approaches in early childhood education. In M. Gettinger, S.N. Elliott, & T.R. Kratchowill (Eds.), *Preschool and early childhood treatment directions*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Erwin, E.J. (1996). The promise and challenge of supporting all children in natural environments. In E.J. Erwin (Ed.), *Putting children first: Visions for a brighter future for young children and their families* (pp. 199-224). Baltimore: Brooks.
- Erwin, P.J., Sanson, A., Amos, D., & Bradley, B.S. (1993). Family day care and day care centers: Career, family and child differences and their implications. *Early Child Development and Care*, 86, 89-103.
- Etaugh, C. (1980). Effects of nonmaternal care on children: Research evidence and popular wisdom. American Psychologist, 35, 309-319.
- Evans, E. (1985). Longitudinal follow-up assessment of differential preschool experience for low-income minority group children. *Journal of Educational Research*, 78, 197-202.
- Evans, E.D. (1982). Curriculum models and early education. In B. Spodek (Ed.), Handbook of research in early childhood education (pp. 107-134). NY: The Free Press.
- Family Resource Coalition. (1996). Guidelines for family support practice. Chicago, IL: Family Resource Coalition.
- Farber, E.A., & Egeland, B. (1982). Developmental consequences of out-of-home care for infants in a low-income population. In Zigler & Gordon.
- Farran, D.C. (1990). Effects of intervention with disadvantaged children: A decade review. In S.J. Meisels & J.P. Shonkoff (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood intervention (pp. 501-539). NY: Oxford University Press.
- Feldman, L.M. (1995). Family and community supports provided for low-income children in the Syracuse Prekindergarten Program: A follow-up study. Early Child Development & Care, 111, 69-85.
- Field, T. (1991). Quality infant day-care and grade school behavior and performance. *Child Development*, 62, 863-870.
- Field, T., Masi, W., Goldstein, D., Perry, S., & Parl, S. (1988). Infant day-care facilitates preschool behavior. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 55, 1308-1316.
- File, N. (1994). Children's play, teacher-child interactions, and teacher beliefs in integrated early childhood programs. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 55, 1308-1316.
- Fink, B. (1995). Providing quality child day care in a comprehensive program for disadvantaged young mothers and their children. *Child Welfare*, 74, 1109-1134.
- Finkelstein, N.W., (1982). Aggression: Is it stimulated by day care? Young Children, 37, 3-12.
- Finkelstein, N.W. & Wilson, K. (1977). The influence of day care on social behaviors towards peers and adults. Presented at Society for Research in Child Development, New Orleans.
- Finn-Stevenson, M., & Chung, A. (1995). Evaluation of the School of the 21st century: Preliminary findings. New Haven, CT: Bush Center in Child Development and Social Policy.
- Finn-Stevenson, M., & Linkins, K. (1992). Evaluation of the School of the 21st Century: Preliminary report. New Haven, CT: Yale University Bush Center in Child Development and Social Policy.
- Finn-Stevenson, M., Ward, B., & Raver, C. (1990). Process evaluation on the School of the 21st Century. New Haven, CT: Yale Bush Center in Child Development and Social Policy.

Fischer, J.L. & Krause-Eheart, B. (1991). Family day care: A theoretical basis for improving quality. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 6, 549-563.



- Frankel, E.B., & McKay, D. (1997). Embarking on integration of preschool programs: Creating positive change. Early Child Development and Care, 138, 57-70.
- Frede, E.C. (1995). The role of program quality in producing early childhood program benefits. *The Future of Children*, 5, 115-132.
- Frede, E. & Bernett, W.S. (1992). Developmentally appropriate public schools preschool: A study of implementation of the High/Scope curriculum and its effects on disadvantaged children's skills at first grade. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 7, 483-499.
- Friesen, B.J., & Wahlers, D. (1993). Respect and real help: Family support and children's mental health. Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Problems, 2, 12-15.
- Fuerst, J.S. & Fuerst, D. (1993). Chicago experience with an early childhood program: The special case of the Child Parent Center Program. *Urban Education*, 28, 69-96.
- Fuller, B., & Liang, X. (1995). Can poor families find child care? Persisting inequality nationwide and in Massachusetts. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Child Care and Family Policy Project.
- Fuqua, R.W., & Labensohn, D. (1986). Parents as consumers of child care. Family Relations, 35, 295-303.
- Gabel, S., & Finn, M. (1986). Outcome in children's day-treatment programs: Review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *International Journal of Partial Hospitalization*, 3, 261-271.
- Gabel, S., Finn, M., & Ahmad, A. (1988). Day treatment outcome with severely disturbed children. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 27, 479-482.
- Galinsky, E. (1990). The costs of not providing quality early childhood programs. In B. Willer (Ed.)., Reaching the full cost of quality (pp. 27-40). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Galinsky, E. (1992). The impact of child care on parents. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 159-171). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Galinsky, E., & Hooks, W. (1977). The new extended family: Day care that works. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Galinsky, E., Howes, C., Kontos, S. & Shinn, M. (1994). The study of children in family care and relative care: Highlights of findings. NY: Families and Work Institute.
- Galinsky, E., & Weissbourd, B. (1992). Family-centered child care. In B. Spodek & O. Saracho (Eds.). *Issues in child care: Yearbook in early childhood Education, Volume 3.* New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gallagher, P.A. (1997). Teachers and inclusion: Perspectives on changing roles. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 17, 363-386.
- Galloway, C., & Chandler, P. (1978). The marriage of special and generic early education services. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 261-287). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Garbarino, J. (1992). Children and families in the social environment. New York: Aldine.
- Garber, H.L. (1988). The Milwaukee Project: Prevention of mental retardation in children at risk. Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Retardation.
- Garber, H., & Heber, R. (1983). Modification of predicted cognitive development in high-risk children through early intervention. In M.K. Detterman & R.J. Sternberg (Eds.), *How much can intelligence be increased*? (pp. 121-137). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.



- Gargiulu, R.M., Sluder, L.C. & Streitenberger, D. (1997). Preparing early childhood educators for inclusive programs: A call for professional unification. Early Childhood Education Journal, 25, 137-139.
- Gillis-Olion, M., & Olion, L. (1985). Preparing early childhood educators and paraprofessionals to work with mainstreamed handicapped children. *Early Child Development and Care*, 21, 291-304.
- Goelman, H., & Pence, A.R. (1987). Effects of child care, family and individual characteristics on children's language development: The Victoria Day Care Research Project. In D. Phillips (Ed.), Quality in child care: What does research tell us? Research monographs of the National Association for the Education of Young Children (pp. 43-56). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Goetz, K. (Ed.). (1992). Programs to strengthen families: A resource guide. Chicago, IL: Family Resource Coalition.
- Goffin, S.G. (1989). Developing a research agenda for early childhood education: What can be learned from the research on teaching. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 4, 187-204.
- Goffin, S.G. (1994). Curriculum models and early childhood education: Appraising the relationship. New York: Merrill.
- Gomby, D.S., Larner, M.B., Stevenson, C.S., Lewitt, E.M. & Behrman, R.E. (1995). Long-term outcomes of early childhood programs: Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children*, 5, 6-24.
- Gomby, D.S., Larson, C.S., Lewit, E.M. & Behrman, R.E. (1993). Home visiting: Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children*, 3, 6-22.
- Gonzalez-Mena, J. (1990). Multicultural issues in child care. Mountain View, CA: Mayfair.
- Goosens, F.A., Ottenhoff, G., & Koops, W. (1991). Day care and social outcomes in middle childhood: A retrospective study. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 9, 137-150.
- Graham, M.A. & Scott, K.G. (1988). The impact of definitions of high risk on services to infants and toddlers. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 8, 23-38.
- Gray, S.W., Ramsay, B.K., & Klaus, R.A. (1982). From 3 to 20: The Early Training Project. Baltimore, MD: University Park Press.
- Gray, S.W., Ramsay, B.K., & Klaus, R.A. (1983). The Early Training Project: 1962-1980. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Eds.), As the twig is bent...long-term impact of preschool programs (pp. 115-145). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Green, A.L., & Stoneman, Z. (1989). Attitudes of mothers and fathers of nonhandicapped children. Journal of Early Intervention, 13, 292-304.
- Greenwald, C. & Hand, J. (1997). The project approach in preschool classrooms. *Dimensions of Early Childhood*, 25, 35-39.
- Grizenko, N. (1997). Outcome of multimodal day treatment for children with severe behavior problems:

  A five-year follow-up. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 36, 989-997.
- Grizenko, N., Papineau, D., & Sayegh, L. (1993). Effectiveness of a multimodal day treatment program for children with disruptive behavior problems. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 32, 127-134.
- Grizenko, N., & Sayegh, L. (1990). Evaluation of the effectiveness of a psychodynamically oriented day treatment program for children with behavior problems. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 35, 519-525.



- Guralnick, M.J. (1978). Integrated preschools as educational and therapeutic environments: Concepts, design, and analysis. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 115-145). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Guralnick, M.J. (1981). Mainstreaming young handicapped children. In B. Spodek (Ed.), Handbook of research on early childhood education (pp. 456-500). NY: Free Press.
- Guralnick, M.J. (1994). Mothers' perceptions of the benefits and drawbacks of early childhood mainstreaming. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 18, 168-183.
- Guralnick, M.J. & Bennett, F.C. (1987). The effectiveness of early intervention for at-risk and handicapped children. New York: Academic.
- Guralnick, M.J. & Bricker, D. (1987). The effectiveness of early intervention for children with cognitive and general developmental delays. In M.J. Guralnick & F.C. Bennett (Eds.), *The effectiveness of early intervention for at-risk and handicapped children* (pp. 115-173). Orlando: Academic.
- Guralnick, M.J., & Groom, J.M. (1988). Peer interactions in mainstreamed and specialized classrooms: A comparative analysis. Exceptional Children, 54, 415-425.
- Halpern, R. (1992). Issues of program design and implementation. In M. Larner, R. Halpern & O.
   Harkavy (Eds.). Fair start for children: Lessons learned from seven demonstration projects (pp. 179-197). New Haven, CT: Yale.
- Hamblin-Wilson, C. & Thurmon, S.K. (1990). The transition from early intervention to kindergarten: Parental satisfaction and involvement. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 14, 55-61.
- Hanline, M.F. (1985). Integrating disabled children. Young Children, 40, 45-48.
- Hanline, M. (1990). A consulting model for providing integration opportunities for preschool children with disabilities. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 14, 360-366.
- Hanline, M.F. & Murray, C. (1984). Integrating severely handicapped children into regular public schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 66, 273-276.
- Haskins, R. (1985). Public aggression among children with varying day care experience. *Child Development*, 57, 692-703.
- Haskins, R. (1989). Beyond metaphor: The efficacy of early childhood education. *American Psychologist*, 44, 274-282.
- Haskins, R. (1992). Is anything more important than day-care quality? In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 101-115). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hatch, O.G. (1984). Environmental constraints affecting services for the handicapped. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 4, 83-90.
- Hausfather, A., Toharia, A., LaRoche, C., & Engelsmann, F. (1997). Effects of age of entry, day care quality, and family characteristics on preschool behavior. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Alled Disciplines*, 38, 441-448.
- Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., Morrison, D.M., O'Donnell, J., Abbot, R.D., & Day, L.E. (1992). The Seattle Social Development Project: Effects of the first four years on protective factors and problem behavior. In J. MCCord & R.E. Tremblay (Eds.), *Preventing antisocial behavior:*Interventions from birth through adolescence (pp. 139-161). NY: Guilford.
- Hawkins-Clarke, D. (1996). Intervention program for preschool-age children at risk for conduct disorder and antisocial behavior. Paper presented at the National Conference of the Canadian Association of Family Resource Programs (Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, October 17-20, 1996).
- Hayes, C., Palmer, J., & Zaslow, M. (Eds.). (1990). Who cares for America's children? Child care policy for the 1990s. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.



- Hebbeler, K. (1985). An old and a new question on the effects of early education for children from low income families. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 78, 207-216.
- Hecimovic, A., Fox, J.J., Shores, R.E., & Strain, P.S. (1985). An analysis of developmentally integrated and segregated free play setting and the generalization of newly-acquired social behaviors of socially withdrawn preschoolers. *Behavioral Assessment*, 7, 367-388.
- Helburn, S.W. (Ed.). (1995). Child care, cost, and quality in child care centers, Technical report.

  Denver: Department of Economics, Center for Research in Economics and Social Policy.
- Helburn, S., & Culkin, M.L. (1995). Cost, quality, and child outcomes in child care centers: Executive summary. Denver: Economics Department, University of Colorado at Denver.
- Helburn, S., Culkin, M.L., Morris, J., Mocan, N., Howes, C., Phillipsen, L., Bryant, D., Clifford, R., Cryer, D., Peisner-Feinberg, E., Burchinal, M., Kagan, S.L., & Rustici, J. (1995). Cost, quality, and child outcomes in child care centers. Final report. Denver: University of Colorado.
- Helburn, S., Culkin, M.L., Morris, J., Moran, N., Howes, C., Phillipsen, L., Bryant, D., Clifford, R., Cryer, D., Peisner-Feinberg, E., Burchinal, M., Kagan, S., & Rustici, J. (1995). Cost, quality, and child outcomes in childcare centers: Key findings and recommendations. *Young Children*, 50, 40-44
- Helburn, S. & Howes, C. (1996). Child care cost and quality. The Future of Children, 6, 62-82.
- Hennessy, E. & Melhuish, E.C. (1991). Early day care and the development of school-age children: A review. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 9, 117-136.
- Herr, I., Halpern, R., Woolley, R., & Majeske, R. (1993). Bridging the worlds of Head Start and welfare-to-work: Building a two-generation self-sufficiency program from the ground up. Chicago, IL Project Match and Erikson Institute.
- Herrnstein, R.J. & Murray, C. (1994). The bell curve: Intelligence and class structure in American life. NY: Free.
- Hertz, R. (1997). A typology of approaches to child care: The centerpiece of organizing family life for dual-earner couples. *Journal of Family Issues*, 18, 355-385.
- Hines, A.M. (1996). Targeting children at risk through adult health and social services: An analysis of family and environmental risk factors. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 18, 603-620.
- Hoagwood, K., & Koretz, D. (1996). Embedding prevention services within systems of care: Strengthening the nexus for children. Applied & Preventive Psychology, 5, 225-234.
- Hocutt, A., & Wiegerink, R. (1983). Perspectives on parent involvement in preschool programs for handicapped children. In R. Haskins & D. Adams (Eds.), *Parent education and public policy* (pp. 211-229). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Hofferth, S. (1992). The demand for and supply of child care in the 1990s. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1900s: Trends and consequences (pp. 3-25). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hofferth, S. (1996). Child care in the United States today. The Future of Children, 6(2), 41-61.
- Hofferth, S.L., Brayfield, A., Deich, S. & Holcomb, P. (1991). *National child care survey, 1990*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Hofferth, S.L. & Phillips, D.A. (1987). Child care in the United States: 1970-1995. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 49, 559-571.
- Hofferth, S.L., West, J., Henke, R., & Kaufman, P. (1994). Access to early childhood programs for children at risk. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Hofferth, S.L. & Wissoker, D.A. (1992). Price, quality and income in child care choice. *Journal of Human Resources*, 28, 70-111.



- Holloway, S.D. & Reichart-Erickson, M. (1988). The relationship of day care quality to children's free play behavior and social problem-solving skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 3, 39-54.
- Holloway, S.D., & Reichhart-Erickson, M. (1989). Child care quality, family structure, and maternal expectations: Relationship to preschool children's peer relations. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 4, 99-107.
- Honig, A.S. (1994). Assessing the preparation of infant/toddler caregivers. In S. Reifel (Ed.) Advances in early education and day care. Vol. 6: Topics in early literacy, teacher preparation, and international perspectives on early care. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Honig, A.S. (1997). Creating integrated environments for young children with special needs. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 25, 93-100.
- Honig, A.S. & Lally, J.R. (1982). The family development research program: Retrospective review. Early Child Care and Development, 10, 41-62.
- Honig, A.S. (1996). Evaluation of early childhood enrichment programs. Early Child Development and Care, 120, 29-37.
- Hood, J. (1992). Caveat emptor: The Head Start scam. Policy Analysis. December 18, 1992, p. 187.
- Houlares, J. & Oden, S. (1990). A follow-up study of Head Start's role in the lives of children and families (Interim Report). Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Educational Research Foundation.
- Howes, C. (1983). Caregiver behavior in center and family day care. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 4, 99-107.
- Howes, C. (1987). Quality indicators in infant and toddler child care: The Los Angeles Study. In D.A. Phillips (Ed.), Quality in child care: What does research tell us? (pp. 81-89). Washington, DC: NAEYC.
- Howes, C. (1988). Relations between early child care and schooling. Developmental Psychology, 24, 53-57.
- Howes, C. (1990). Can age of entry into child care and the quality of child care predict adjustment in kindergarten? *Child Development*, 26, 292-303.
- Howes, C. (1990). Current research on early day-care. In S.S. Chehrazi (Ed.), *Psychosocial issues in day care* (pp. 21-53). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Howes, C. & Hamilton, C.E. (1993). The changing experience of child care: Changes in teachers and in teacher-child relationships and children's social competence with peers. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 8, 15-37.
- Howes, C. & Olenick, M. (1986). Family and child care influences on toddler's compliance. *Child Development*, 57, 202-216.
- Howes, C., Phillips, D.A., & Whitebrook, M. (1992). Thresholds of quality: Implications for the social development of children in center-based child care. *Child Development*, 63, 449-460.
- Howes, C., Rodning, C., Galluzzo, D.C., & Myers, L. (1988). Attachment and child care: Relationships with mother and caregiver. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 3, 403-416.
- Howes, C. & Rubenstein, J. (1985). Determinants of toddler's experiences in day care: Age of entry and quality of setting. Child Care Quarterly, 14, 140-151.
- Howes, C. & Stewart, P. (1987). Child's play with adults, toys and peers: An examination of family and child care influences. *Developmental Psychology*, 23, 423-430.
- Howes, C., Whitebook, M., & Phillips, D. (1992). Teacher characteristics and effective teaching in child care: Findings from the National Child Care Staffing Study. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 21, 399-414.



- Infant Health and Development Program. (1990). Enhancing the outcomes of low-birthweight, premature infants: A multisite randomized trial. *Pediatrics*, 263, 294-304.
- Ispa, J., & Matz, R.D. (1978). Integrating handicapped preschool children in a cognitively oriented program. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 167-0190). Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Janko, S., Schwartz, I., Sandall, S., Anderson, K., & Cottam, C. (1997). Beyond microsystems: Unanticipated lessons about the meaning of inclusion. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 17, 286-306.
- Jenkins, J.R., Odom, S.L. & Speltz, M.L. (1989). Effects of social integration on preschool children with handicaps. *Exceptional Children*, 55, 420-428.
- Jenkins, J.R., Speltz, M.L., & Odom, S.L. (1985). Integrating normal and handicapped preschoolers: Effects on child development and social interaction. *Exceptional Children*, 52, 7-17.
- Jester, R.E., & Guinagh, B.J. (1983). The Gordon Parent Education Infant and Toddler Program. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.). As the twig is bent . . . lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 103-32). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Joesch, J.M. (1998). Where are the children? Extent and determinants of preschoolers' child care time. Journal of Family & Economic Issues, 19, 75-99.
- Johansen, A.S. (1992). Child care: Preferences, choice and consequences (N-3237-RGSD). RAND: Santa Monica, CA.
- Johansen, A.S., Leibowitz, A. & Waite, L.J. (1996). The importance of child care characteristics to choice of care. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 58, 759-772.
- Johnson, D. & Walker, T. (1991). A follow-up evaluation of the Houston Parent Child Development Center: School performance. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 15, 226-236.
- Johnson, D., & Walker, T. (1991). Final report of an evaluation of the Avance parent education and family support program. Report submitted to the Carnegie Corporation. San Antonio, TX: Avance.
- Kagan, J. (1982). Psychological research on the human infant: An evaluative summary. NY: Grant.
- Kagan, J., Kearsley, R., & Zelazo, P. (1978). *Infancy: Its place in human development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Kagan, S.L. (1991). Excellence in early childhood education: Defining characteristics and next-decade strategies. In S.L. Kagan (Ed.), *The care and education of America's young children: Obstacles and opportunities*, pp. 237-258. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Kagan, S.L. & Garcia, E.E. (1991). Educating culturally and linguistically diverse preschoolers: Moving the agenda. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 6, 427-443.
- Kagan, S.L., Powell, D.R., Weissbourd, B. & Zigler, E.F. (1987). America's family support programs: Perspectives and prospects. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kaiser, A.P., & Hemmeter, M.L. (1989). Value-based approaches to family intervention. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 8, 72-86.
- Kamerman, S.B. & Kahn, A.J. (1995). Innovations in toddler day care and family support services: An international overview. *Child Welfare*, 74, 1281-1300.
- Karnes, M.B., Schwedel, A.M., & Williams, W.B. (1983). A comparison of five approaches for educating young children from low-income homes. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.). As the twig is bent... lasting effects of preschool programs. (pp. 133-170). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.



- Karnes, M.B. & Teska, J.A. (1980). Toward successful parent involvement in programs for handicapped children. In J.J. Gallagher (Ed.), New directions for exceptional children: Parents and families of handicapped children (pp. 85-109). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Karnes, M.B., Teska, J.A. & Hodgins, A.S. (1970). The effects of four programs of classroom intervention on the intellectual and language development of four-year-old disadvantaged children. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 40, 58-76.
- Karweit, N.L. (1994). Can preschool alone prevent early learning failure? In R.E. Slavin, N.L. Karweit, & B.A. Wasik (Eds.). *Preventing early school failure: Research, policy and practice* (pp. 58-787). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Keister, M. (1970). A demonstration project: Group care of infants and toddlers. Washington, DC: Department of Health Education and Welfare.
- Kingsley, R.F. & Cook-Hatala, C. (1988). A survey of child care workers: Implications for administrators regarding job stress and satisfaction. *Child and Youth Care Quarterly*, 17, 281-287.
- Kisker, E.E., Hofferth, S.L., Phillips, D.A. & Farquhar, E. (1991). A profile of child care settings: Early education and care in 1990 (Vol. 1). Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research.
- Kisker, E. & Maynard, R. (1991). Quality, cost and parental choice of child care. In D.M. Blau (Ed.), The economics of child care (pp. 127-143). NY: Russell Sage.
- Kisker, E.E. & Silverberg, M. (1991). Child care utilization by disadvantaged teenage mothers. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47, 159-178.
- Klass, C.S., Guskin, K.A., & Thomas, J.M. (1995). The early childhood program: Promoting children's development through and within relationships. *Bulletin of Zero to Three/The National Center*, 16, 9-17.
- Klein, N. & Sheehan, R. (1987). Staff development: A key issue in meeting the needs of young handicapped children in day care settings. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 7, 13-27.
- Knitzer, J., Steinberg, Z., & Fleisch, B. (1990). At the school house door: An examination of programs and policies for children with emotional and behavioral problems. NY: Bank Street College of Education.
- Kontos, S. (1991). Child care quality, family background and children's development. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 6, 249-262.
- Kontos, S. & Dunn, L. (1989). Attitudes of caregivers, maternal experiences with daycare, and children's development. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 10, 37-51.
- Kontos, S. & Fiene, R. (1987). Child care quality, compliance with regulations and children's development: The Pennsylvania study. In D. Phillips (Ed.), *Quality in child care: What does research tell us?* (pp. 57-80). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Kontos, S., & Fiene, R. (1987). Child care quality, family background, and children's development. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 6, 249-262.
- Kontos, S. & File, N. (1993). Staff development in support of integration. In C. Peck, S. Odom, & D. Bricker (Eds.), Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs: From research to implementation (pp. 169-186). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Kontos, S. & Wells, W. (1986). Attitudes of caregivers and the day care experiences of families. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 1, 47-67.
- Kotelchuck, M. & Richmond, J.B. (1987). Head Start: Evolution of a successful comprehensive child development program. *Pediatrics*, 79, 441-445.



- Kugelmass, J.W. (1989). The "shared classroom": A case study of interactions between early childhood and special education staff and children. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 36-44.
- Kutash, K. & Rivera, V.R. (1995). Effectiveness of children's mental health services: A review of the literature. Education & Treatment of Children, 18, 443-477.
- Lally, J.R., & Honig, A.S. (1977). The Family Development Research Program: A program for prenatal, infant, and early childhood enrichment. In M.D. Day & R.D. Parker (Eds.). *The preschool in action: Exploring early childhood programs*. (pp. 149-174). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Lally, J.R., Mangione, P., & Honig, A. (1988). The Syracuse University Family Development Program: Long-range impact of an early intervention with low-income children and their families. In D. Powell (Ed.). Parent education as early childhood intervention: Emerging directions theory research and practice. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Lally, J.R., Mangione, P.L., Honig, A.S. & Wittner, D.S. (1988, April). More pride, less delinquency: Findings from the ten year follow-up of the Syracuse University Family Development Research Program. Zero to Three, 8, 13-18.
- Lamb, M., & Sternberg, K. (1990). Do we really know how day care affects children? *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 11, 351-379.
- Lamb, M.E., Sternberg, K., Hwang, P. & Broberg, A. (Eds.). (1993). *Child care in context*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Lamb, M.E., Sternberg, K.J., & Ketterlinus, R. (1992). Child care in the United States. In M.E. Lamb, K. Sternberg, C.P. Hwang, & A.G. Broberg (Eds.). *Child care in context* (pp. 207-222). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Lamorey, S. & Bricker, D.D. (1993). Integrated programs: Effects on young children and their parents. In C.A. Peck, S.L. Odom, & D.D. Bricker (Eds.), Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs: Ecological perspectives on research and implementation (pp. 249-270). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Larner, M. (1994). In the neighborhood: Programs that strengthen family day care for low-income families. NY: National Center for Children in Poverty.
- Larner, M. (1995). Linking family support and early childhood programs: Issues, experience, opportunities. Chicago: Family Resource Coalition.
- Larsen, J. & Robinson, C. (1989). Later effects of preschool on low-risk children. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 4, 133-144.
- Lazar, I. & Darlington, R. (1982). Lasting effects of early education: A report from the Consortium for Longitudinal Studies. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 47.
- Lazar, I., Darlington, R., Murray, J., Royce, J. & Snipper, A. (1982). Lasting effects of early education.

  Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 47 (1-2 Serial No. 194).
- Lee, V.E. & Loeb, S. (1995). Where do Head Start attendees end up? One reason why preschool effects fade out. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 17, 62-82.
- Lee, V.S., Brooks-Gunn, J., Schnur, E. & Liaw, F.R. (1990). Are Head Start effects sustained? A longitudinal follow-up comparison of disadvantaged children attending Head Start, no preschool, and other preschool programs. *Child Development*, 61, 495-507.
- Lehrer, E. (1983). Determinants of child care mode choice: An economic perspective. Social Science Research, 12, 69-80.
- Leibowitz, A., Waite, L.J. & Wittsberger, C. (1988). Child care for preschoolers: Differences by child's age. *Demography*, 25, 205-220.



- Levenstein, P., O'Hara, J., & Madden, J. (1983). The mother-child home program of the Verbal Interaction Program. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 237-264).
- Lieber, J. et al. (1997). The impact of changing roles on relationships between professionals in inclusive programs for young children. Early Education and Development, 8, 67-82.
- Locurto, C. (1991). Beyond IQ in preschool programs? Intelligence, 15, 295-312.
- Long, F. (1983). Social support networks in day care and early child development. In J. Whitaker & J. Garbarino (Eds.), Social support networks: Informal helping in the human services. NY: Aldine.
- Lutzer, V.D. (1987). An educational and peer support group for mothers of preschoolers at-risk for behavior disorders. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 14, 1-16.
- Mahoney, G. & Filer, J. (1996). How responsive is early intervention to the priorities and needs of families? *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 16, 437-457.
- Marchant, C. (1995). Teachers' views of integrated preschools. Journal of Early Intervention, 19, 61-73.
- Marcon, R.A. (1992). Differential effects of three preschool models on inner-city 4-year-olds. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 7, 517-530.
- Markowitz, J. (1996). Longitudinal research on children who received early childhood special education services: The State Education Agency perspective. Final Report. Alexandria, VA: National Association of State Directors of Special Education.
- Mason, K., & Duberstein, L. (1992). Consequences of child care for parents' well-being. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 127-158). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Mason, K.O. & Kuhlthau, K. (1989). Determinants of child care ideals among mothers of preschool aged children. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 51, 593-603.
- Maynard, R., & McGinnis, E. (1992). Policies to enhance access to high-quality child care. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 189-208). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- McCartney, K. (1984). The effect of quality of day care environment upon children's language development. *Developmental Psychology*, 20, 244-260.
- McCartney, K. & Marshall, N. (1989). The development of child care research. Division of Child and Youth Family Services Newsletter, 12, 14-15.
- McCartney, K. & Phillips, D.(1988). Motherhood and child care. In D. Birns & D. Hay (Eds.), The different faces of motherhood (pp. 157-179). NY: Plenum.
- McCartney, K., Scarr, S., Phillips, D., & Grajek, S. (1985). Day care as intervention: Comparisons of varying quality programs. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 6, 247-260.
- McClelland, J. (1986). Job satisfaction of child care workers: A review. Child Care Quarterly, 15, 82-89.
- McDonnell, A., Brownell, K., & Wolery, M. (1997). Teaching experience and specialist support: A survey of preschool teachers employed in programs accredited by NAEYC. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 17, 263-285.
- McEvoy, M.A., Nordquist, V.M., & Cunningham, J.L. (1984). Regular- and special-education teachers' judgments about mentally retarded children in an integrated setting. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 89, 167-173.
- McKey, R.H., Condelli, L., Ganson, H. Barnett, B.J., McConkey, C. & Plantz, M.C. (1985). The impact of Head Start on children, families and communities: Final report of the Head Start evaluation, synthesis and utilizations project. Washington, DC: CSR Incorporated for the Head Start Bureau, Administration for Children, Youth and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.



- McLean, M., & Hanline, M. (1990). Providing early intervention services in integrated environments: Challenges and opportunities for the future. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 10, 62-77.
- Mcloughlin, C.S. (1989). Provision of psychological services to very young children and their families. In J.L. Graden, J.E. Zins, & M.J. Curtis (Eds.). Alternative educational delivery systems: Enhancing instructional options for all students (pp. 269-290). Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Meadow-Orlans, K.P. (1987). An analysis of the effectiveness of early intervention programs for hearing-impaired children. In M.J. Guralnick & F.C. Bennett (Eds.), The effectiveness of early intervention for at-risk and handicapped children (pp. 325-362). Orlando: Academic Press.
- Melaville, A.I., & Blank, M.J. (1991). What it takes: Structuring interagency partnerships to connect children and families with comprehensive services. Washington, DC: Education and Human Services Resources.
- Melhuish, E.C., Lloyd, E., Martin, S., & Mooney, A. (1990). Type of child care at 18 months: II. Relations with cognitive and language development. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 31, 861-870.
- Melhuish, E.C., Mooney, A., Martin, S. & Lloyd, E. (1990). Type of day care at 18 months: I. Differences in the interactional experience. *Journal of Child Psychology, Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 31, 849-860.
- Melhuish, E.C., Moss, P., Mooney, A., & Martin, S. (1991). How similar are day care groups before the start of daycare? *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 12, 331-335.
- Miller, L.B., & Bizzell, R.B. (1983). Long-term effects of four preschool programs: Sixth, seventh, and eighth grades. *Child Development*, 54, 725-741.
- Miller, L.B., & Bizzell, R.P. (1983). The Louisville Experiment: A comparison of four programs. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Ed.) As the twig is bent... lasting effects of preschool programs. (pp. 171-199). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Miller, L. & Bizzell, R. (1984). Long-term effects of four preschool programs: Ninth- and tenth-grade results. *Child Development*, 55, 1570-1587.
- Miller, L.B., & Dyer, J.L. (1975). Four preschool programs: Their dimensions and effects. Monographs for the Society of Research in Child Development, 40,5-6.
- Miller, L.J., Strain, P., Boyd, K., Hunsicker, S., McKinley, J., & Wu, A. (1993). Parental attitudes toward integration. *Topics in Early Childhood Education*, 12, 230-246.
- Mitchell, A., Cooperstein, E., & Larner, M. (1992). Child care choices, consumer education and low-income families. NY: National Center for Children in Poverty.
- Mlinarcik, S. (1987). Community partnerships: A collaborative approach for developing integrated preschool programs. In M.S. Berres & P. Knoblock (Eds.), *Program models for mainstreaming* (pp. 239-260). Rockville, MD: Aspen.
- Mowder, B.A. & Widerstrom, A.H. 91986). Philosophical differences between early childhood education and special education: Issues for school psychologists. *Psychology in the Schools*, 23, 171-174.
- Mulligan, V. (1997). *Inclusive child care: An ethical perspective*. Paper presented at the Annual International Conference of the Association for Childhood Education, April 12, 1997.
- Mullis, A.K., Ellet, C.H., & Mullis, R.L. (1986). Job satisfaction among child care workers. *Journal of Child Care*, 2, 65-75.
- Murray, J.D. (1992). Analysis of outcome data of the Finger Lakes family support program. Mansfield, PA: Rural Services Institute, Mansfield University.



- Musselman, C.R., Wilson, A.K., & Lindsay, P.H. (1988). Effects of early intervention on hearing impaired children. *Exceptional Children*, 55, 222-228.
- National Association for the Education of Young Children. (1991). Accreditation criteria and procedures. Rev. Ed. Washington, DC: NAEYC.
- National Center for Children in Poverty. (1992). Young children in poverty: A statistical update. NY: National Center for Children in Poverty, Columbia University School of Public Health.
- Neugebauer, R. (1989). Surveying the landscape: A look at child care '89. Child Care Information Exchange, 66, 13-16.
- NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (1994). Child care and child development: The NICHD Study of Early Child Care. In S. Friedman & H.C. Haywood (Eds.), Developmental follow-up: Concepts, domains and methods. NY: Academic.
- Oates, R.K., Gray, J., Schweitzer, L., Kempe, R.S., & Harmon, R.J. (1995). A therapeutic preschool for abused children: The Keepsafe project. *Child Abuse and Neglect: The International Journal*, 19, 1379-1386.
- O'Brien, M. (1997). Inclusive child care for infants and toddlers: Meeting individual and special needs. Baltimore, MD: Brooks.
- Odom, S.L., Horn, E.M., Brown, W.H., Youngquist, G., & Favazza, P. (1994). Activity, child behavior and engagement in programs for toddlers with and without disabilities.
- Odom, S.L., Hoyson, M., Jamieson, B., & Strain, P.S. (1985). Increasing handicapped preschoolers' peer social interactions: Cross setting and component analysis. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 18, 3-16.
- Odom, S., & McEvoy, M. (1990). Mainstreaming at the preschool level: Potential barriers and tasks for the field. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 10, 48-61.
- Odom, S.L. & McLean, M.E. (1996). Early intervention/early childhood special education: Recommended practices. Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Odom, S.L., & Speltz, M.L. (.1983). Program variations in preschools for handicapped and nonhandicapped children: Mainstreamed versus integrated special education. *Analysis and Intervention in Developmental Disabilities*, 3, 89-104.
- Odom, S.L., & Strain, P.S. (1984). Classroom-based social skills instruction for severely handicapped preschool children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 4, 97-116.
- Odom, S.L., & Strain, P.S. (1984). Peer-mediated approaches to increasing children's social interaction: A review. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 54, 544-557.
- Odom, S.L. & Warren, S.F. (1988). Early childhood education in the year 2000. *Journal of the Division for Early Childhood*, 12, 263-273.
- Olds, D.L. & Kitzman, H. (1993). R eview of research on home visiting for pregnant women and parents of young children. *The Future of Children*, 3, 53-92.
- Oswald, D.P., & Singh, N.N. (1996). Emerging trends in child and adolescent mental health services. In T.H. Ollendick & R.J. Prinz (Eds.), Advances in Clinical Child Psychology, Vol. 18. NY: Plenum.
- Paget, K.D. (1990). Best practices in the assessment of competence in preschool age children. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), Best practices in school psychology II (pp. 107-119). Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Paget, K.D. (1992). Parent involvement in early childhood services. In M. Gettinger, S.N. Elliott, & T.R. Kratochwill (Eds.), *Preschool and early childhood treatment directions*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.



- Palmer, F.H. (1983). The Harlem Study: Effects by type of training, age of training, and social class. In Consortium for Longitudinal Studies (Eds.), As the twig is bent...lasting effects of preschool programs (pp. 201-236). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Palmer, F.H., & Siegel, R. (1977). Minimal intervention at ages two to three and subsequent intellective changes. In M.C. Day & R.K. Parker (Eds.), *The preschool in action* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 3-26). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Pantake, A.M. & Palmer, B. (1996). Making the connections: Linking staff development interventions to implementation of full inclusion. *Journal of Staff Development*, 17, 26-30.
- Parkins, H. (1988). Preschool special education in the United States of America: A practitioner's view. Early Child Development and Care, 36, 151-163.
- Peck, C.A., Apolloni, T., Cooke, T.P., & Raver, S. (1978). Teaching retarded preschool children to imitate nonhandicapped peers: Training and generalized effects. *Journal of Special Education*, 12, 195-208.
- Peck, C.A., Carlson, P., & Helmstetter, E. (1992). Parent and teacher perceptions of outcomes for typically developing children enrolled in integrated early childhood programs: A statewide survey. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 6-13.
- Peck, C.A., Furman, G.C., Helmstetter, E. (1993). Integrated early childhood programs: Research on implementation of change in organizational contexts. In C.A. Peck, S.L. Odom, & D.D. Bricker (Eds.), Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs: Ecological perspectives on research and implementation (pp. 187-205). Baltimore: Brookes.
- Peck, C.A., Hayden, L., Wandschneider, M., Peterson, K., & Richarz, S. (1989). Development of integrated preschools: A qualitative inquiry into sources of resistance among parents, administrators, and teachers. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 353-364.
- Peck, C.A., Killen, C.C. & Baumgart, D. (1989). Increasing implementation of special education instruction in mainstream preschools: Direct and generalized effects of nondirective consultation. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 22, 197-210.
- Peterson, C. & Peterson, R. (1986). Parent-child interaction and day care: Does quality of day care matter? Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 7, 1-5.
- Peterson, N.L., & Cooper, C.S. (1989). Parent education and involvement in early intervention. In M.J. Fine (Ed.), *The second handbook on parent education: Contemporary perspectives* (pp. 197-236). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Peterson, N.L., & Haralick, J.G. (1977). Integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschoolers:

  An analysis of play behavior and social interaction. Education and Training of the Mentally

  Retarded, 12, 235-245.
- Phillips, D. (Ed.) (1987). Quality in child care: What does research tell us? Research monographs of the National Association for the Education of Young Children. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Phillips, D. (1992). Child care and parental well-being: Bringing quality of care into the picture. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1900s: Trends and consequences (pp. 172-179). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Phillips, D.A. & Howes, C. (1987). Indicators of quality in child care: Review of research. In D.A. Phillips (Ed.), Quality in child care: What does research tell us? (pp. 1-21). Washington, DC: NAEYC.
- Phillips, D., Howes, C., & Whitebook, M. (1991). Child care as an adult work environment: Implications for job satisfaction, turnover and quality of care. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47, 49-70.



- Phillips, D.A., Howes, C., & Whitebook, M. (1992). The social policy context of child care: Effects on quality. American Journal of Community Psychology, 20, 25-51.
- Phillips D., McCartney, K., & Scarr, S. (1987). Child care quality and children's social development. Developmental Psychology, 23, 537-543.
- Phillips, D., Mekos, D., Scarr, S., McCartney, K., & Abbott-Shim, M. Paths to quality in child care: Structural and contextual influences on classroom environments. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*.
- Phillips, D., Scarr, S., & McCartney K. (1987). Child care quality and children's social development. Developmental Psychology, 23, 537-43.
- Phillips, D.A., Voran, M., Kisker, E., Hoes, C., & Whitebook, M. (1994). Child care for children in poverty: Opportunity or inequity? *Child Development*, 65, 472-492.
- Piersen, D.E. (1988). The Brookline Early Education Project. In R.H. Price, E.L. Cowen, R.P. Lorion, & J. Ramon-McKay (eds.). 14 ounces of prevention: A casebook for practitioners (pp. 24-31). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Plenk, A.M. (1978). Activity group therapy for emotionally disturbed preschool children. *Behavior Disorders*, 3, 210-218.
- Poresky, R.H., & Hooper, D.J. (1984). Enhancing prosocial play between handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children. *Psychological Reports*, 54, 391-402.
- Powell, D.R. (1987). Day care as a family support system. In S.L. Kagan, D.R. Power, B. Weissbourd, & E.F. Zigler (Eds.). America's family support programs: Perspectives and prospects (pp. 115-132). New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Powell, D.R. (1989). Families and early childhood programs. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Powell, D.R. (1991). Parents and programs: Early childhood as a pioneer in parent involvement and support. In S.L. Kagan (Ed.). The care and education of America's young children: Obstacles and opportunities (pp. 91-109). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Presser, H. (1992). Child care and parental well-being: A needed focus on gender trade-offs. In A. Booth (Ed.), Child care in the 1990s: Trends and consequences (pp. 180-185). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Price, R.H., Cowen, E.L., Lorion, R.P., & Ramos-McKay, J. (Eds.). (1988). 14 ounces of prevention. Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Provence, S. et al. (Eds.). (1992). The zero to three child care anthology 1984-1992. Arlington, VA: National Center for Clinical Infant Programs.
- Provence, S. & Naylor, A. (1983). Working with disadvantaged parents and their children. New Haven, CT: Yale.
- Quay, L. (1991). Caregivers' interactions with nonhandicapped and mainstreamed handicapped children in caregiving and instructional activities. Early Education and Development, 2, 261-269.
- Quinn, K.P. & McDougal, J.L. (1998). A mile wide and a mile deep: Comprehensive interventions for children and youth with emotional and behavioral disorders and their families. School Psychology Review, 27, 191-203.
- Raab, M.M., & Dunst, C.J. (1997). Early childhood program assessment scales and family support practices. Advances in Early Education and Care, 9, 105-131.
- Rab, V.Y. & Ikeda-Wood, K. (1995). Childcare and the ADA: A handbook for inclusive programs. Baltimore: Brookes.



- Ramey, C., Bryant, D.M., Campbell, F.A., Sparling, J.J., & Wasik, B.H. (1988). Early intervention for high-risk children: The Carolina Early Intervention Program. In R.H. Price, E.L. Cowen, R.P. Lorion, & J. Ramos-McKay (Eds.). 14 ounces of prevention (pp. 32-43). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Ramey, C., Bryant, D., Sparling, J., & Wasik, B. (1985). Project CARE: A comparison of two early intervention strategies to prevent retarded development. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 5(2), 12-25.
- Ramey, C.T., Bryant, D.M., & Suarez, T.M. (1989). Preschool compensatory education and the modifiability of intelligence: A critical review. In D. Detterman, (Ed.). Current topics in human intelligence (pp. 247-96). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Ramey, C.T., & Campbell, F.A. (1987). The Carolina Abecedarian Project: An educational experiment concerning human malleability. In J.J. Gallagher & C.T. Ramey (Eds.). *The malleability of children* (pp. 127-139). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Ramey, C.T. & Campbell, F.A. (1991). Poverty, early childhood education, and academic competence: The Abecedarian experiment. In A. Huston (Ed.). *Children in poverty: Child development and public policy* (pp. 190-221). NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Ramey, C.T., Dorval, B., & Baker-Ward, L. (1983). Group day care and socially disadvantaged families: Effects on the child and the family. In S. Kilmer (Ed.), Advances in Early Education and Day Care. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Ramey, C.T., & Farren, D. (1982). Intervening with high-risk families via infant day care. Presented at the Society for Research in Child Development. Detroit, MI.
- Ramey, C.T., McGinness, G.D., Cross, L., et al. (1982). The Abecedarian approach to social competence: Cognitive and linguistic intervention for disadvantaged preschoolers. In K.M. Borman, (Ed.). The social life of children in a changing society. (pp. 145-174). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Ramey, C.T., & Ramey, S.L. (1992). Effective early intervention. Mental Retardation, 30, 337-345.
- Ramey, C.T., Ramey, S.L., Gaines, K.R., & Blair, C. (1995). Two –generation early intervention programs: A child development perspective. *Advances in Applied Developmental Psychology*, 9, 199-228.
- Ramey, C.T., Yeates, K.O., & Short, E.J. (1984). The plasticity of intellectual development: Insights from preventive intervention. *Child Development*, 55, 1913-1925.
- Reichart, D., Lynch, E., Anderson, B., Svobodny, L., DiCola, J., & Mercury, M. (1989). Parental perspectives on integrated preschool opportunities for children with handicaps and children without handicaps. *Journal of early Intervention*, 13, 6-13.
- Reynolds, A.J. (1994). Effects of a preschool plus follow-up intervention for children at risk. Developmental psychology, 30, 787-804.
- Reynolds, A.J. (1995). One year of preschool intervention or two: Does it matter? Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 10, 1-31.
- Roberson, K. (1998). Very Important Preschoolers. Educational Leadership, 55, 70-72.
- Roberts, J.E., Rabinowitch, S., Bryant, D.M., Burchinal, M.R., Koch, M.A., & Ramey, C.T. (1989). Language skills of children with different preschool experiences. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 32, 773-786.
- Roditti, M.G. (1995). Child day care: A key building block of family support and family preservation programs. *Child Welfare*, 1043-68.



- Rose, D.F., & Smith, B.J. (1992). Attitude barriers and strategies for preschool mainstreaming. Pittsburgh, PA: Research Institute on Preschool Mainstreaming.
- Rose, D.F. & Smith, B.J. (1993). Preschool mainstreaming: Attitude barriers and strategies for addressing them. Young Children, 48, 59-62.
- Rosenthal, M.K. (1991). Daily experiences of toddlers in three child care settings in Israel. Child Care and Youth Forum, 20, 39-60.
- Rubenstein, J.H. & Howes, C. (1979). Caregiving and infant behavior in day care and in homes. Developmental Psychology, 15, 1-24.
- Rubenstein, J.H., & Howes, C. (1983). Socioemotional development and toddlers in day care: The role of peers and individual differences. In S. Kilmer (Ed.) Advances in Early Education and Day care (pp. 13-45). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Rubenstein, J.L., Howes, C. & Boyles, P. (1981). A two-year follow-up of infants in community based infant day care. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 22, 209-218.
- Rule, S., Stowitschek, J., & Innocenti, M. (1986). Day care for handicapped children: Can we stimulate mainstream education service through a day care-special education merger? *Child Care Quarterly*, 15, 223-232.
- Rule, S., Stowitschek, J., Innocenti, M., Striefel, S., Killoran, J., & Swezey, K. (1987). The social integration program: An analysis of the effects of mainstreaming handicapped children into daycare centers. *Education and Treatment of Children, 10*, 175-192.
- Ruopp, R., Travers, J., Glantz, F., & Coelen, C. (1979). Children at the center: Final results of the National Day Care center study. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- Rutter, M. (1981). Socioemotional consequences of day care for preschool children. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 51, 4-28.
- Sack, W.H., Mason, R., & Collins, R. (1987). A long-term follow-up study of a children's psychiatric day treatment center. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 18, 55-68.
- Safford, P.L. (1989). Integrated teaching in early childhood: Starting in the mainstream. White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Saifer, S. & Skelding, S. (1995). Including children with challenging behavior and intense emotional needs. *NHSA Journal*, 13, 33-35, 37-38.
- St. Pierre, R.G., Goodson, B.D., Layzer, J.I. & Bernstein, L. (1994). National Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program: Report to Congress. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- St. Pierre, R.G., & Layzer, J.I. (1998). Improving the life chances of children in poverty: Assumptions and what we have learned. Society for Research in Child Development, Social Policy Report, 12.
- St. Pierre, R.G., Layzer, J.I., & Barnes, H.V. (1995). Two-generation programs: Design, cost and short-term effectiveness. *The Future of Children*, 5, 76-93.
- St. Pierre, R.G., Swartz, J.P., Gamse, B. et al. (1995). National evaluation of Even Start Family Literacy Program: Final report. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- Salzer, M.S. & Bickman, L. (1997). Delivering effective children's services in the community: Reconsidering the benefits of system interventions. Applied & Preventive Psychology, 6, 1-13.
- Sayegh, L., & Grizenko, N. (1991). Studies of the effectiveness of day treatment programs for children. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 36, 246-253.
- Scarr, S., & Eisenberg, M. (1993). Child care research: Issues, perspectives, and results. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44, 613-644.



- Scarr, S., Eisenberg, M., & Deater-Deckard, K. (1994). Measurement of quality in child care centers. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 9, 131-151.
- Scarr, S., Phillips, D.A., & McCartney, K. (1990). Facts, fantasies and the future of child care in the United States. Psychological Science, 1, 26-35.
- Scarr, S., Phillips, D.A., McCartney, K., & Abbott-Shim, M. (1992). Quality of child care as an aspect of family and child care policy in the United States. *Pediatrics*, 91, 182-188.
- Schindler, P.J., Moely, B.E. & Frank, A.L. (1987). Time in day care psychology and social participation of young children. Developmental Psychology, 23, 255-261.
- Schliecker, E., White, D.R., & Jacobs, E. (1991). The role of day care quality in the prediction of children's vocabulary. Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science, 23, 12-24.
- Schmidtz, C.L., & Hilton, A. (1996). Combining mental health treatment with education for preschool children with severe emotional and behavioral problems. *Social work in Education*, 18, 237-249.
- Schoen, S.F., Lentz, F.E., & Suppa, R.J. (1988). An examination of two prompt fading procedures and opportunities to observe in teaching handicapped preschoolers self-help skills. *Journal of the Division for Early Childhood*, 12, 349-358.
- Schoen, T.M. et al. (1997). Children blossom in special and general education integration program a private child care center and a public school collaborate. *Young Children*, 52, 58-63.
- Schorr, L.B. (1989). Within our reach: Breaking the cycle of disadvantage. NY: Doubleday.
- Schwartz, P. (1983). Length of day-care attendance and attachment behavior in eighteen-month-old infants. *Child Development*, 54, 1073-1078.
- Schwarz, J.C, Krolick, G., & Strickland, R. (1973). Effects of early day care experience on adjustment to a new environment. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 43, 340-366.
- Schweinhart, L. (1985). The preschool challenge. High/Scope Early Childhood Policy Papers (No. 4).
- Schweinhart, L.J., Barnes, H.V. & Weikart, D.P. (1993). Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool study through age 27. Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, No. 10. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Schweinhart, L.J., Berrueta-Clement, J.R., Barnett, W.S., Epstein, A.S., & Weikart, D.P. (1985). The promise of early childhood education. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 66, 548-553.
- Schweinhart, L.J. & Weikart, D.P. (1980). Young children grow up: The effects of the Perry Preschool Program on youths through age 15. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Schweinhart, L.J., & Weikart, D.P. (1985). Evidence that good early childhood programs work. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 66, 545-551.
- Schweinhart, L.J. & Weikart, D.P. (1993). A summary of significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool Study through age 27. In L.J. Schweinhart & D.P. Weikart (Eds.), Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool Study through age 27. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Schweinhart, L.J. & Weikart, D.P. (1997). Lasting differences: The High/Scope preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23 (Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, 12). Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Schweinhart, L.J., Weikart, D. & Larner, M. (1986). Consequences of three preschool curriculum models through age 15. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 1, 15-45.
- Schweinhart, L.J., Weikart, D.P., & Larner, M.B (1986). Child-initiated activities in early childhood programs may help prevent delinquency. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 1, 303-312.



- Scruggs, T.E., Mastropieri, M.A., Cook, S.B., Escobar, C. (1986). Early intervention for children with conduct disorders: A quantitative synthesis of single-subject research. *Behavior Disorders*, 11, 260-271.
- Searl, J. (Ed.). (1996). Serving children with special needs in your child care facility. Syracuse, NY: Early Childhood Inclusion Network.
- Seitz, V. (1981). Intervention and sleeper effects: A reply to Clarke and Clarke. *Developmental Review*, 1, 361-373.
- Seitz, V. (1990). Intervention programs for impoverished children: A comparison of educational and family support models. *Annals of Child Development*, 7, 73-104.
- Seitz, V., Rosenbaum, L.K. & Apfel, N.H. (1984). Effects of family support intervention: A ten-year follow-up. *Child Development*, 56, 376-391.
- Seitz, V., & Apfel, N.H. (1994). Parent-focused intervention: Diffusion effects on siblings. *Child Development*, 65, 677-683.
- Shinn, M., Phillips, D., Howes, C., Galinksy, E., & Whitebook, M. (1991). Correspondence between mothers' perceptions and observer ratings of quality in child care centers (unpublished manuscript).
- Shiomi, T. (1990). The specialty of child care. Hattatsu, 42, 19-24.
- Shpancer, N. (1997). The link between caregiver-parent relations and children's experiences in day care and at home: What does the research tell us? *Early Child Development & Care*, 135, 7-20.
- Sigel, I.E. (1991). Preschool education: For whom and why? New Directions for Child Development, 53, 83-91.
- Simeonsson, R.J., & Bailey, D.B., Jr. (1990). Family dimensions in early intervention. In S.J. Meisels & J.P. Shonkof (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood intervention (pp. 428-444). NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Slavin, R.E. (1994). Preventing early school failure: Implications for policy and practice. In R.E. Slavin, N.L. Karweit, & B.A. Wasik (Eds.). Preventing early school failure: Research policy and practice (pp. 206-231). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Slavin, R.E. (1994). Preventing early school failure: The challenge and the opportunity. In R.E. Slavin, N.L. Karweit, & B.A. Wasik (Eds.). *Preventing early school failure: Research policy and practice* (pp. 1-12). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Slavin, R.E., Karweit, N.L. & Wasik, B.A. (Eds.). (1994). Preventing early school failure: Research, policy and practice. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Smith, B.J., & Strain, P.S. (1988). Early childhood special education in the next decade: Implementing and expanding P.L. 99-457. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 8, 37-47.
- Smith, S. (1991). Two-generation program models: A new intervention strategy. Social policy report.

  Ann Arbor, MI: Society for Research in Child Development.
- Smith, S. (Ed.). Two generation programs for families in poverty: A new intervention strategy. Advances in Applied Developmental Psychology, Vol. 9. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Smith, S., Fairchild, M. & Groginsky, S. (1995). Early childhood care and education: An investment that works. Denver, CO: National Conference of State Legislatures, p. 2.
- Soderman, A.K. (1985). Dealing with difficult young children. Young Children, 40, 15-20.
- Sonnenstein, F.I., & Wolf, D.A. (1991). Satisfaction with child care: Perspectives of welfare mothers. Journal of Social Issues, 47, 15-32.

 $\Omega$ 



- Sprigle, J.E. & Scahefer, L. (1985). Longitudinal evaluation of the effects of two compensatory preschool programs on fourth-through sixth-grade students. *Developmental Psychology*, 21, 702-708.
- Sroufe, L.A. (1988). A developmental perspective on day care. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 3, 283-291.
- Stafford, S.H. & Green, V.P. (1996). Preschool integration: Strategies for teaching. *Childhood Education*, 72, 214-218.
- Stainback, W., & Stainback, S. (Eds.). (1990). Support networks for inclusive schooling. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Statham, J. (1997). Day care for children in need: Universal provision or a targeted service? Early Child Development and Care, 136, 1-15.
- Status of handicapped children in Head Start programs: Seventh annual report of the U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare to the Congress of the United States on services provided to handicapped children in Project Head Start (1980, February). Washington, DC: Department of Health, Education and Welfare.
- Stipek, D., Daniels, D., Galuzzo, D., & Milburn, S. (1992). Characterizing early childhood education programs for poor and middle-class children. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 7, 1-19.
- Stith, S., & Davis, A. (1984). Employed mothers and family day care substitute caregivers. *Child Development*, 55, 1340-1348.
- Stoneman, Z. (1993). The effects of attitude on preschool integration. In C.A. Peck, S.L. Odom, & D.D. Bricker (Eds.)., Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs: Ecological perspectives on research and implementation (pp. 223-247). Baltimore, Brookes.
- Strain, P.S. (1977). Effects of peer social initiations on withdrawn preschool children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychiatry*, 5, 445-455.
- Strain, P.S. (1984). Generalization of autistic children's social behavior change: Effects of developmentally integrated and segregated settings. *Analysis and Intervention in Developmental Disabilities*, 3, 23-34.
- Stroul, B.A., & Friedman, R.M. (1986). A system of care for severely emotionally disturbed children and youth. Washington, DC: National Institute of Mental Health.
- Swartz, J.P., Smith, C., Berghauer, G. et al. (1994). Evaluation of the Head Start Family Service Center Demonstration Projects: First year evaluation results. Cambridge, MA: Abt.
- Telzrow, C.F. (1992). Young children with special educational needs. In M. Gettinger, S.N. Elliott, & T.R. Kratchwill (Eds.), *Preschool and early childhood treatment directions* (pp. 55-88). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Templeman, T.P., Fredericks, H.D., & Udell, T. (1989). Integration of children with moderate and severe handicaps into a daycare center. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 315-328.
- Thornburg, K.R., Pearl, P., Crompton, D. & Ipsa, J.M. (1990). Development of kindergarten children based on child care arrangements. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 5, 27-42.
- Tietze, W. (1987). A structural model for the evaluation of preschool effects. Early Childhood Research Ouarterly, 2, 133-153.
- Topp, D.B. (1991). Beyond the continuum of care: Conceptualizing day treatment for children and youth. Community Mental Health Journal, 27, 105-113.
- Travers, J., Nauta, M., & Irwin, N. (1982). The effects of a social program: Final report of the Child and Family Resource Program's infant-toddler component. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.



- Turnbull, A.P., & Blacher-Dixon, J. (1980). Preschool mainstreaming: Impact on parents. New Directions for Exceptional Children, 1, 25-46.
- Turnbull, A.P., Winston, P.J., Blacher, J.B., & Salkind, N. (1983). Mainstreaming in the kindergarten classroom: Perspectives of parents of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. *Journal of the Division for Early Childhood*, 6, 14-20.
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, Department of Commerce. (1992). Who's minding the kids? Current population reports, Series P-70, No. 30. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1994). Strong families, strong schools: Building community partnerships for learning. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1995, October). Statistics in brief: Child care and early education program participation of infants, toddlers and preschoolers (NCES 95-824). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1993). Creating a 21<sup>st</sup> century Head Start: Final Report of the Advisory Committee on Head Start Quality and Expansion. Washington, DC: DHHS.
- U.S. Department of Labor. (1993). 1993 Handbook on women workers: Trends and issues. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. (1990). Early childhood programs: What are the costs of high quality programs? GAO/HRD-90-43Br. Washington, DC: GAO, January 24, 1990.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. (1994). Early childhood programs: Local perspectives on barriers to providing Head Start services. GAO/HEHS-95-8. Washington, DC: GAO, December 21, 1994.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. (1995). Early childhood centers: Services to prepare children for school often limited. GAO/HEHS-95-21. Washington, DC: GAO, March, 1995.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. (1995). Early childhood programs: Promoting the development of young children in Denmark, France and Italy. GAO/HEHS-95-45-BR. Washington, DC: GAO.
- Vandell, D.L., & Corasaniti, M.A. (1990). Child care and the family: Complex contributors to child development. In K. McCartney (Ed.), New directions in child development. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Vandell, D.L., & Corasaniti, M.A. (1990). Variations in early child care: Do they predict subsequent social, emotional and cognitive differences? Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 5, 555-572.
- Vandell, D., Henderson, V. & Wilson, K. (1988). A longitudinal study of children with day care experience of varying quality. *Child Development*, 59, 1286-1292.
- Vandell, D.L., & Powers, C. (1983). Day care quality and children's free play activities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 53, 493-500.
- Vaughn, B.E., Gove, F.L., & Egeland, B. (1980). The relationship between out-of-home care and the quality of infant-mother attachment in an economically disadvantaged population. *Child Development*, 51, 1203-1214.
- Vincent, L.J., Salisbury, C.L., Strain, P., McCormick, C., & Tessier, A. (1990). A behavioral ecological approach to early intervention: Focus on cultural diversity. In S.J. Meisels & J.P. Shonkoff (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood intervention (pp. 173-195). NY: Oxford University Press.
- Waite, L.J., Leibowitz, A., & Witsberger, C. (1991). What parents pay for: Child care characteristics, quality and costs. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47, 33-48.



- Ward, J., & Center, Y. (1987). Attitudes to the integration of disabled children into regular classes: A factor analysis of functional characteristics. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 57, 221-224.
- Warfield, M., & Hauser-Cram, P. (1996). Childcare needs, arrangements and satisfaction of mothers of children with developmental disabilities. *Mental Retardation*, 34, 294-302.
- Washington, V., & Oyemade, U.J. (1987). Project Head Start: Past present and future tends in the context of family needs. NY: Garland.
- Wasik, B.A., & Karweit, N.L. (1994). Off to a good start: Effects of birth to three interventions on early school success. In R.E. Slavin, N.L. Karweit, & B.A. Wasik (Eds.). *Preventing early school failure: Research, policy, and practice*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Wasik, B.H., Ramey, C.T., Bryant, D.M., & Sparling, J.J. (1990). A longitudinal study of two early intervention strategies: Project CARE. *Child Development*, 61, 1682-96.
- Weikart, D.P., (Ed.). (1967). Preschool intervention: A preliminary report of the Perry Preschool Project. Ann Arbor, MI: Campus Publishers.
- Weikart, D. (1989). Quality preschool programs: A long-term social investment. Ford Foundation Occasional Paper 5.
- Weikart, D.P. (1990). A perspective in High/Scope's early education research. In A.S. Honig (Ed.), Optimizing early child care and education (pp. 29-40). London: Gordon & Breach.
- Weikart, D.P., Bond, J.T., & McNeil, J.T. (1978). The Ypsilanti Perry preschool project: Preschool years and longitudinal results through first grade. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope.
- Weikart, D.P., Epstein, A.S., Schweinhart, L.J., & Bond, J.T. (1978). The Ypsilanti Preschool Curriculum Demonstration Project: Preschool years and longitudinal results. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Weiss, H. (1987). Family support and education in early childhood programs. In S.L. Kagan, D.R. Powell, B. Weissbourd, & E.F. Zigler (Eds.), America's family support programs: Perspectives and prospects (pp. 133-160). New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Weiss, H.B. (1993). Home visits: Necessary but not sufficient. The Future of Children, 3, 112-128.
- Weissberg, R.P., Gullotta, T.P., Hampton, R.L., Ryan, B.A. & Adams, G.R. (Eds.). (1997). Establishing preventive services: Healthy children 2010. Vol 9: Issues in Children's and Families' Lives. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Weissbourd, B. (1992). Making child care family-centered: A vision for the 90s. Child and Youth Care Forum, 21, 385-397.
- Weissbourd, B. & Powell, D.R. (1990). For children's sake: Family-centered childcare. Family Resource Coalition Report, 9, 1-2, 18.
- Wesley, P. (1994). Providing on-site consultation to promote quality in integrated childcare programs. Journal of Early Intervention, 18, 391-402.
- West, J., Elvie, G.H., & Collins, M. (1993). Profile of preschool children's child care and early program participation. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Westman, J.C. (1979). Psychiatric day treatment. In J.D. Noshpitz (ed.), Basic handbook of child psychiatry, Vol. 3 (pp. 288-299).
- White, K.R. (1985-1986). Efficacy of early intervention. The Journal of Special Education, 19, 401-416.
- White, K., & Casto, G. (1985). An integrative of early intervention efficacy studies with at-risk children: Implications for the handicapped. Analysis and Intervention in Developmental Disabilities, 5, 7-31.



- White, K.R., Taylor, M.J., & Moss, V.D. (1992). Does research support claims about the benefits of involving parents in early intervention programs? Review of Educational Research, 62, 91-125.
- Whitebook, M., Howes, C. & Phillips, D.A. (1989). Who cares? Child care teachers and the quality of care in America. Executive summary of the National Child Care Staffing Study. Oakland, CA: Child Care Employee Project.
- Wiegerink, R., & Comfort, M. (1987). Parent involvement: Support for families of children with special needs. In S.L. Kagan, D.R., Powell, B. Weissbourd, & E.F. Zigler (Eds), America's family support programs: Perspectives and prospects (pp. 182-206). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Wilczenski, F.L. (1992). Measuring attitudes toward inclusive education. *Psychology in the Schools, 29*, 306-312.
- Willer, B. (1992). Overview of demand and supply of child care in the 1990s. Young Children, 19-22.
- Willer, B., Hofferth, S.L., Kisker, E.E., Divine-Hawkins, P., & Farquhar, E., & Glantz, F.B. (1991). The demand and supply of child care in 1990. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Winton, P.J. (1986). The consequences of mainstreaming for families of young handicapped children. In C.J. Meisel (Ed.), Mainstreaming handicapped children: Outcomes, controversies and new directions (pp. 129-148). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Wolery, M. (1989). Transitions in early childhood special education: Issues and procedures. Focus on *Exceptional Children*, 22, 1-14, 16.
- Wolery, M. & Fleming, L.A. (1993). Implementing individualized curricula in integrated settings. In C.A. Peck, S.L., Odom, & D.D. Bricker (Eds.). Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs: Ecological perspectives on research and implementation (pp. 109-132). Baltimore: Paul Brookes.
- Wolery, M., Holcombe-Ligon, A., Brookfield, J., Huffman, K., Schoreder, C., Martin, C., Venn, M., Werts, M. & Fleming, L. (1993). The extent and nature of preschool mainstreaming: A survey of general early educators. *The Journal of Special Education*, 27, 222-234.
- Wolery, M. & Wilbers, J.S. (Eds.). (1994). Including children with special needs in early childhood programs. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Woodhead, M. (1985). Preschool education has long term effects: Can they be generalized. Oxford Review of Education, 11, 155.
- Woodhead, M. (1988). When psychology informs public policy: The case of early childhood intervention. *American Psychologist*, 43, 443-454.
- Woodside, R.V. (1975). The therapeutic preschool: A service, research, and demonstration project. Paper presented at the International Federation of Learning Disabilities, Belgium, January.
- Yoshikawa, H. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on social outcomes and delinquency. *The Future of Children*, 5, 51-75.
- Zaslow, M. (1991). Variation in child care quality and its implications for children. *Journal of Social Issues*, 47, 125-39.
- Zigler, E.F. (1987, September). A solution to the nation's child care problem: The School of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. Address presented at the National Health Policy Forum, Washington, DC.
- Zigler, E.F. (1989). Addressing the nation's child care crisis: The school of the 21st Century. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 59, 484-491.
- Zigler, E.F. & Berman, W. (1983). Discerning the future of early childhood intervention. *American Psychologist*, 38, 894-906.



- Zigler, E. & Black, K.B. (1989). America's family support movement: Strengths and limitations. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 59, 6-19.
- Zigler, E.F. & Finn-Stevenson, M. (1994). School's role in the provision of support services for children and families. A critical aspect of program equity. *Educational Policy*, 8(4), 591-606.
- Zigler, E.F., Finn-Stevenson, M., & Marsland, K.W. (1995). Child day care in the schools: The school of the 21st century. *Child Welfare*, 1301-1326.
- Zigler, E.F. & Gilman, E.D. (1998). Day care and early childhood settings: Fostering mental health in young children. Child & Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 7, 483-498.
- Zigler, E.F. & Lang, M.E. (1991). Child care choices: Balancing the needs of children, families and society. NY: Free Press.
- Zigler, E. & Muenchow, S. (1992). Head Start: The inside story of America's most successful educational experiment. NY: Basic Books.
- Zigler, E., Piotrkowski, C.S. & Collins, R. (1994). Health services in Head Start. Annual Review of Public Health, 15, 511-534.
- Zigler, E. & Styfco, S.J. (1993). (Eds.). Head Start and beyond: A national plan for extended childhood intervention. New Haven, CT: Yale.
- Zigler, E. & Styfco, S.J. (1994). Head Start: Criticisms in a constructive context. *American Psychologist*, 49, 127-132.
- Zigler, E., & Styfco, S.J. (1994). Is the Perry preschool better than Head Start? Yes and no. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 9, 269-87.
- Zigler, E.F. & Turner, P. (1982). Parents and day care workers: A failed partnership? In E.F. Zigler & E.W. Gordon (Eds.), Day care scientific and social policy issues (pp. 174-182). Boston: Auburn House.
- Zigler, E.F. & Valentine, J. (1979). Head Start: The legacy of the war on poverty. NY: Free Press.
- Zimet, S.G. & Farley, G.K. (1985). Day treatment for children in the United States. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 24, 732-738.
- Zionts, P. (Ed.). (1997). Inclusion strategies for students with learning and behavior problems: Perspectives, experiences, and best practices. Austin, TX: PRO-ED.



Wilder Research Center, March, 2000



U.S. Department of Education
Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) National Library of Education (NLE)
Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)



# REPRODUCTION RELEASE

(Specific Document)								
I. DOCUMENT	IDENTIFICATIO	N:	<u> </u>	<del></del>				
Title: Early Chi	ldhood Educatio	on Programs: A Review of	Program Models	and Effectiveness				
Author(s): Cheryl	A. Hosley, Ph.	.D.						
Corporate Source: Wilder Researc		Center Dulevard North, Suite 210		Publication Date: March, 2000				
In order to dissemine monthly abstract journant electronic media, reproduction release is	al of the ERIC system, R and sold through the El granted, one of the folio	te timely and significant materials of intermetesources in Education (RIE), are usually RIC Document Reproduction Service (Elewing notices is affixed to the document.  seminate the identified document, please (	made available to users  ORS). Credit is given to	the source of each document, and, if				
of the page.  The sample sticker significant to all Leve	hown below will be	The sample sticker shown below wi	l be	The sample sticker shown below will be afficed to all Level 28 documents				
PERMISSION TO R DISSEMINATE THIS BEEN GRA  Game  TO THE EBUCATION INFORMATION C	EPRODUCE AND S MATERIAL HAS NTED BY	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL MICROFICHE, AND IN ELECTRONIC FOR ERIC COLLECTION SUBSCRIBE HAS BEEN GRANTED BY  TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOUR INFORMATION CENTER (ERI	AND IN MEDIA RS ONLY.  MICR  RCES  T	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL IN OFICHE ONLY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY  GAINO  O THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)				
Leve f		Level 2A		Level 2B				
Check here for Level 1 relea and dissemination in microfi media (e.g., electron	che or other ERIC archival ic) and paper copy.	Check here for Level 2A release, permitting and dissemination in microfiche and in elector ERIC archival collection subscribe currents will be processed as indicated provided reproduce is granted, but no box is checked, docur	tronic media represently represents represent represents represent represents	Check here for Level 28 release, permitting roduction and dissemination in microfiche only of 1.				
as indicate	ed above. Reproductión requires permission from	sources information Center (ERIC) nonext from the ERIC microfiche or electronic in the copyright holder. Exception is made to cators in response to discrete inquiries.	nadia DV Dersons Ouivi	TIBLE EXIC BILIPIOYEES BIRG IN STATEMENT				
Sign Signature:	Cheryl a	Hosley		Hosley, Research Scient				
Organization/	Address: Wilder Res 1295 Banda Saint Bau	search Centèr ana Boulevard North, Ste. L. MN 55108210	Telephone 651.647.	4624 FAX: 651.647.4623 org March 14. 2000				

# III. DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY INFORMATION (FROM NON-ERIC SOURCE):

If permission to reproduce is not granted to ERIC, or, if you wish ERIC to cite the availability of the document from another source, please provide the following information regarding the availability of the document. (ERIC will not announce a document unless it is publicly available, and a dependable source can be specified. Contributors should also be aware that ERIC selection criteria are significantly more stringent for documents that cannot be made available through EDRS.)

Publisher/Distributor:	The second secon	the seal could be at the organization of the seal of t	6
Address:		and the control of the second	e e e e e e
·	-		
Price:		 	
	_	 	

## IV. REFERRAL OF ERIC TO COPYRIGHT/REPRODUCTION RIGHTS HOLDER:

If the right to grant this reproduction release is held by someone other than the addressee, please provide the appropriate name and address:

address.				
Name:	-	the second second second	er ye richer and the second recording to the second	
ed Total (Alegandae)		4.6°		
	erministration		promise de la companya de la company	Marian Paris San

### V. WHERE TO SEND THIS FORM:

Send this form to the following ERIC Clearinghouse:

University of Maryland
ERIC Clearinghouse on Assessment and Evaluation
1129 Shriver Laboratory
College Park, MD 20742
Attn: Acquisitions

However, if solicited by the ERIC Facility, or if making an unsolicited contribution to ERIC, return this form (and the document being contributed) to:

ERIC Processing and Reference Facility 1100 West Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Laurel, Maryland 20707-3598

Telephone: 301-497-4080
Toll Free: 800-799-3742
FAX: 301-953-0263
e-mail: ericfac@inet.ed.gov
WWW: http://ericfac.piccard.csc.com

COSS (Rev. 9/97)
VIOUS VERSIONS OF THIS FORM ARE OBSOLETE.....